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The Australian Capital Territory (ACT)

Working in the Australian Capital Territory to
reduce the incidence and impact of cancer
The Cancer Council ACT
The Cancer Council ACT (The Council) is a non
government not-for-proﬁt community organisation
that aims to promote a healthier community by
reducing the incidence and impact of cancer in
the ACT region. The Council depends largely
on the generosity of the ACT and surrounding
community providing donations and supporting
fundraising initiatives.

Vision
To promote a healthier community by reducing
the incidence and impact of cancer in the Canberra
area through information, education, supportive
care and research.

Values
• accepting the principles of the Ottawa Charter
for Health Promotion
• provision of quality programs and services
• working within an evidence-based paradigm
• working within a community/ environmental/
ecological approach rather than an individual
or biomedical approach
• ensuring accessibility of services
• maintaining professional standards

Memberships of Major Cancer
Organisations
• The Cancer Council Australia, together with
other member organisations in each state
and territory
• Asian and Paciﬁc Federation of Organisations for
Cancer Research and Control
• International Non-Governmental Coalition
Against Cancer
• International Union For Health Promotion
and Education
• International Union against Cancer (UICC)

PROGRAMS AND SERVICES
Cancer Information Service
The Cancer Information Service provides
information on all aspects of cancer via the
Cancer Council Helpline 13 11 20, written
information, e-mail service, lending library,
and walk in consultation service.

Cancer Prevention and Early
Detection Program
The Cancer Prevention and Early Detection
Program encompasses the Adult Smoking Cessation
Service which includes the Quitline 13 7848;
workplace seminars and Quit courses; the National
SunSmart Schools Program; and the General Cancer
Prevention and Early Detection Service promoting
cancer prevention behaviours and participation in
appropriate early detection programs.

Supportive Care Service
The Supportive Care Service provides facilitated
support groups for people affected by cancer and
their families or carers, the Living With Cancer
Education Program, a wig service and a peer
assistance volunteer service.

Research Program
Research grants are awarded annually and fund cancer
research and related projects in the ACT.

Fundraising and Business
Development Program
In 2006–07 The Cancer Council ACT raised 61%
of its total funds through donations, bequests
and community events including the well known
Daffodil Day, Australia’s Biggest Morning Tea and
Relay For Life.
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Financial Report

About this Annual Report
This annual report provides details of The
Cancer Council ACT activities, initiatives
and achievements for the ﬁnancial year
ended 30 June 2007.
Approximately 500 copies of this
comprehensive report are printed and
provided to key stakeholders within
Australia and overseas, including other
state and territory cancer organisations,
government, council members, and other
interested parties. The report is also available
on the website www.actcancer.org.
The report is the major publication produced
by The Council each year. It is used to
provide readers with information about
The Council’s performance during the year
and indicate direction for the coming year.
The Cancer Council ACT aims to make
this report an accurate, informative and
easy to read document. Your feedback and
suggestions for improvement are welcome.
If you have any comments, please contact
The Cancer Council ACT.

Acknowledgments
The Cancer Council ACT would like to
acknowledge Hilary Wardhaugh for the photos
of staff and Board members, and thank her for
her much appreciated generosity.

Cover photo: Participants in the 2006 Terry Fox
Fun Run (now known as the Canada Fun Run for
Cancer). Canberra Times Photograph
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Strategic Plan 2005–2008

PREVENTION AND EARLY DETECTION OF CANCER
Macro Goal 1 For people in the ACT to experience a reduction in the incidence of preventable
cancers and an increase in the early detection of cancers.

Micro Goals
1a) For people in the ACT to be aware of the need to use cancer prevention strategies and be
motivated to take responsibility for changing their behaviour.
1b) For people in the ACT to be supported to practice healthy behaviours by appropriate
legislation and public policy.
1c) For related service providers to understand, encourage and support healthy behaviours.
1d) For employers, families and communities to understand and support cancer preventing
behaviours.
1e) For health practitioners and allied health providers to use evidence based practices in
supporting individuals to achieve healthy behaviours.
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CANCER INFORMATION AND SUPPORTIVE CARE
Macro Goal 2 For people in the ACT affected by a cancer diagnosis to have the negative impact
of cancer minimised.

Micro Goals
2a) For cancer patients and their families to have sufﬁcient information and skill to reduce
anxiety and have a satisfactory level of control during their cancer experience.
2b) For cancer patients to have the negative impact of cancer minimised by legislation and
public policy.
2c) For cancer patients to have access to adequate medical services which are coordinated and
networked in an appropriate manner.
2d) For cancer patients and their families to be aware of, and able to access, relevant community
services and support.
2e) For health professionals and other service providers to use an evidence-based approach in
serving cancer patients.

ENABLING GOALS
Goal 3 For the organisation to raise sufﬁcient funds to fulﬁl its plans.
Goal 4 For the Board of Directors to govern well.
Goal 5 For the organisation to be managed so that it fulﬁls the current strategic plan.
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Report from President and
Chief Executive Ofﬁcer 2006–07

Dear Members and Other Stakeholders
We are pleased to present the 31st Annual Report
of The Cancer Council ACT (TCCACT). Both of
us have been involved with The Cancer Council
ACT long enough to make valid comparisons:
Kevin since 2001 and Joan since 1999, and it is
clear to us that 2006–07 has been a year of solid,
stable high performance. We have been extremely
fortunate to have had many stars in alignment for
essentially the whole year.
We have beneﬁted from the work of some
outstanding staff members and volunteers; been
governed by a high functioning committed
Board; received substantially increased funding
from both our own efforts in the community
and from government sources; and had our work
enriched by many robust and productive collegial
relationships.
The highlight of the year, to pick only one,
was the completion and implementation of
the schools section of the ACT Youth Smoking
Prevention Project in the form of the Youth
Smoking Prevention and Cessation Resource Pack
which was provided to all ACT government and
non-government high schools. TCCACT began
this project in 2003 with the development of an
effective and sustainable local strategy for youth
smoking prevention. (The details can be found in
the Tobacco Control section of this report.)
In 2006–07 TCCACT received total revenue
of $1,607,470 in comparison to $1,312,389 in
2005–06. It is our hope that future years will see
this quickly climb to $2,000,000, which will allow
us to go beyond the bare minimum in service
delivery to a position where we can implement
some of the new and exciting programs which
other Cancer Councils offer.

Client Services –
Major Highlights/Changes
ACT Youth Smoking Prevention Project
As mentioned above, the ﬁrst part of the ACT
Youth Smoking Prevention Project has been
implemented. ACT Health has also granted
TCCACT funding from 2007–08 to 2010–11 to
implement the remainder of the project which
is aimed at vulnerable out of school youth. This
project will go beyond smoking behaviours only,
and address other cancer related behaviours such
as inadequate nutrition and physical activity and
excessive exposure to ultra-violet radiation.

Dr Kevin White,
President

Ms Joan Bartlett,
Chief Executive Ofﬁcer

Adult Smokers Experiencing Speciﬁc
Disadvantage Program
For the past three years TCCACT has received
funding for the provision of courses plus free
nicotine to smokers experiencing speciﬁc
disadvantage. This program has been
enthusiastically received by both the community
organisations and the participants. Unfortunately,
we have received notice that our application to
ACT Health’s Community Grant program for
funding in 2007–08 has been unsuccessful. We will
try to meet the substantial need for this service as
best we can using our own limited resources.

UV Protection
TCCACT was pleased to receive $70,000 under its
Service Agreement with ACT Health this year for
ultra-violet protection activities. Considering that
skin cancer is the most prevalent of all cancers
and the most expensive to the health system it is
vital that we be able to work in this area.
UV protection activities were for many years
funded by Healthpact under its Sponsorship
program. The ACT Government wound up the
ACT Health Promotion Board (“Healthpact”)
from 1 July 2006 and transferred its functions to
ACT Health. Subsequently, the requirement for
sponsored organisations to include a community
health partner organisation in their funded
activities was dropped and so TCCACT was
without funding for ultra violet radiation activities
in 2005–06.
Even though Healthpact itself was wound down
from 1 July 2006, funding agreements it had made
with organisations for 2006–07 to 2008–09 were to
be honoured. That is why Note 3 to the Financial
Statements shows Healthpact as the funding body
for the Smoking Cessation – Smokers Experiencing
Speciﬁc Disadvantage Project. The new name for
the grants for such projects is the ACT Health
Community Grants Program.
We are pleased, and relieved, to report that ACT
Health has agreed to provide over $70,000 per
annum (exclusive of GST) for the next three years
beginning 2007–08 for ultra-violet radiation
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protection activities. The total funding will be
$228,000. We understand that ACT Health will
initiate discussions in 2007-08 which will see
that this program is reliably funded even beyond
this period.

Nutrition and Physical Activity
TCCACT was pleased in 2006–07 to be part of
a collaboration with Diabetes Australia ACT in
jointly employing a Health Promotion Ofﬁcer
to provide services in the area of Nutrition and
Physical Activity to both organisations, as these
are two of the common risk factors for both
diseases. However, it was a very difﬁcult task to
place an appropriate person. When the appointed
staff member resigned, the position was left
empty. TCCACT hopes that this experience
can be reviewed, and adequate funding found
to implement the project again, as it has great
potential to reach many people and use limited
resources effectively and efﬁciently.

Supportive Care Program
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Kidscan
This year, after many years of operation, we ﬁnally
closed Kidscan the play group for children under
ﬁve with cancer or immune deﬁciency. Changes to
medication regimens, which is actually good news
for the children with the illness and their families,
meant that there were fewer opportunities
to access potential ACT participants who are
generally treated interstate.

Wig Service
A review of the Wig Service at The Canberra
Hospital commissioned this year, to focus on
where efﬁciencies could be made, resulted in,
amongst other things, a reduction in the opening
hours. As predicted through the review, this
has been effected without any drop in numbers
of clients. The Wig Service at Fairbairn is open
during business hours as a backup service.
We are very pleased to report that one of our
volunteers, Perrie Morris, was acknowledged as the
ACT Health Volunteer of the Year in May 2007.
Perrie has been volunteering with the Wig Service
for more than ﬁfteen years and TCCACT was
proud to nominate her for this award.

Fundraising within the
Community-Signiﬁcant Points
The fundraising team increased our income
in combined donations and special events to
$986,772 compared to $864,966 last year.

In broad similarity with the other State and
Territory Cancer Councils, Daffodil Day has, since
it peaked at $214,387 in 2002–03, gradually been
declining, although it returned a 14% increase
on the 2005–06 result. Across the country,
Pink Ribbon Day and Girls Night In have been
extraordinarily successful, with TCCACT’s actual
increase compared to last year being 61% and
179% respectively. Australia’s Biggest Morning Tea
provided us with a 20% increase on the 2005–06
result, and, as it did for the ﬁrst time in 2005–06,
exceeded the Daffodil Day income.
The big disappointment in 2006–07 was Relay
For Life where the income declined by 14%,
when we had hoped for an increase of about
20%. TCCACT’s result seems to be an anomaly
in comparison with the other Cancer Councils,
all of which seem to be enjoying outstandingly
successful increases with this event. We will need
to analyse why TCCACT’s situation is different.
The Terry Fox Fun Run became the Canada Fun
Run for Cancer (see the Fundraising and Business
Development pages for detail).

Thanks
Every year we are privileged to offer our thanks to
all the people who make it possible for TCCACT
to deliver our work in such quantity and to such
a high standard. In particular this year we would
like to name Minter Ellison Lawyers who so kindly
provided us with pro bono professional legal
advice. Our thanks also to Mr Terry Snow who has
for many years provided TCCACT, through the
Snow Foundation, with many thousands of dollars
to buy wigs for our clients. In addition, since
December 2004, Mr Snow has provided us with
beautiful premises at Fairbairn at only a fraction of
their commercial value.
We would like to thank The Cancer Council
Victoria and The Cancer Council NSW for
generously and immediately agreeing to have
ACT calls transferred to those states when we
were without key personnel in telephone helpline
services areas. Thank you also to those who
voluntarily and expertly present at TCCACT’s
support groups and other forums.
Deserving our continuing thanks as well are the
Board of Directors, the staff members, the untiring
volunteers, our sponsors, our allies and colleagues
in the community and government sectors, and,
of course the ACT community members generally
for your unfailing support.
With your continuing support we look forward to
a successful 2007–08.
Dr Kevin White
President
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Ms Joan Bartlett
Chief Executive Ofﬁcer

Treasurer’s Report for
year ended 30 June 2007

It is pleasing to be able to report that the year
ended 30 June 2007 saw a continuation in
improved ﬁnancial results for The Cancer Council
ACT with a Net Surplus of $116,889 (2006: Net
Surplus $65,928) being reported for the year.
Total revenue for the year was $1.6 million,
an increase of $306,000 on the previous year.
Revenue from Grants increased to $387,152
(2006: $229,709), and Donations totaling
$134,363 (2006: $141,747) were received during
the year. Fundraising Events were particularly
successful earning $847,300, an increase of
$124,000 on the previous year.

Mr David Sly,
Treasurer

Operating expenses incurred in delivering the
Council’s services were $1.5 million (2006:
$1,246,461), including Grants for Cancer
Research of $30,624.
The ﬁnancial structure of The Cancer Council
ACT remains sound with net assets of $921,190
at 30 June 2007 (2006: $804,085). Liquidity
also remained strong with Net Current Assets of
$873,108 at 30 June 2007 (2006: $733,836).
Mr David Sly
Treasurer
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Summary of Services
PROGRAMS AND SERVICES

STRATEGIES
•
•
•

Cancer
Prevention
and

Smoking
Cessation
Service

•
•
•
•

•
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Mission
Delivery

Early
Detection
Program

General Cancer
Prevention and
Early Detection
Service

Cancer
Information
and

Cancer
Information
Service

•
•

•

Supportive
Care
Program

Research
Program

Enabling
Services /
Programs
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Fundraising
and Business
Development
Program

Supportive
Care Service

Quitline 13 7848 (13 QUIT), a free dedicated line to assist people who
wish to quit smoking
Smoking cessation education through seminars and courses
Capacity building with other community organisations, particularly those
representing lower socio economic status groups
Smoking cessation focused on disadvantaged groups
Multimedia resources
Consultancy
Health promotion booths

Workplace and community skin cancer prevention and awareness
Information sessions
Outdoor workplace information sessions
Health promotion booths at events
Portable Information Display (PID)
Development of resources
Support Commonwealth campaigns
Support National Skin Cancer Action Week (NSCAW)
National SunSmart Schools Program
SunSmart Early Childhood Centre Program
Local press and media releases
Updated and user friendly website
Promote positive sun protection behaviour through local clubs and
organisations
National events/festivals
Promote SunSmart UV Alert

•
•
•
•

Cancer Helpline 13 11 20, a free dedicated line providing information
and support on all aspects of cancer
Library and free cancer information resources
E-mail service and website
Publish ‘The Council Chronicle’ newsletter
Consultancy

•
•
•
•
•

Facilitated support groups
Wig service – wigs and head wear for sale
Volunteer Peer Assistance service
Cancer Education Program
Consultancy

•
•

Provide research grants to quality cancer research projects
Take part in research

•
•
•
•
•

Major fundraising special events
Bequest program
Donations
Other fundraising activities
Retain / increase government funding

ACHIEVED 2006-07

PLANNED FOR 2007-08

•

Smoking cessation services to all sectors of the community
including workplaces, schools and areas of speciﬁc disadvantage
A total of 3,169 contacts to the service, including 2,060 calls
to the Quitline
49 courses and seminars
Of 55 Quit course participants contacted 3-6 months after
completion of a Quit course, 40% were still quit
Strong partnerships continued with Winnunga Nimmityjah
Aboriginal Health Service, the Mental Health Foundation, Karralika
Therapeutic Community and Samaritan House.
8 Quit skills seminars offered for health professionals
Substantial contribution to the ACT Youth Smoking Prevention
Project with the development and implementation of a resource
pack for all government and non-government ACT high schools

•

17 General SunSmart Workplace Information Sessions delivered
16 Outdoor Workplace Information Sessions delivered
SunSmart display booth at the Amazing Science Festival and The
Royal Canberra Show.
PID loaned out to 9 local organisations
7 new primary schools joined the National SunSmart Schools
Program, an additional 3 are participating in the program,
27 reviewed
19 new Early Childhood Centres joined the program, with an
additional 17 participating in the program, 25 reviewed
Developed and circulated 3 SunSmart newsletters to
ACT primary schools and centres
Developed new secondary national resource – 60 Minutes –
Sunburnt Country
Commonwealth ran a national TV campaign 2006–07 summer
NSCAW
Final stages of new national primary school resource – Kidskin
(Year 4)
Developed new national outdoor workplace brochure and booklet
Launched SunSafety Campaign with ACT Workcover
(100 Worksites and over 800 outdoor workers)
Government funding received
Report ﬁndings on national study on the growth of solarium
operators (In the ACT a 425% increase since 1996)
Launched/press released new national Position Statement –
Risks and Beneﬁts of Sun Exposure (Vitamin D)

•

801 calls made to the Cancer Council Helpline
Published and distributed Cancer Services A.C.T. 2007–08
80,530 visits to The Council web site
Four issues of ‘The Council Chronicle’ produced
Reached an estimated 35% of people affected by cancer in
the ACT

•

Maintain or exceed 1000 calls to the Cancer Council
Helpline

832 people contacted the Supportive Care Service by telephone
or in person
80 people attended the Autumn Cancer Forum
Pink Links support group has continued with steady numbers
The Thursday Support Group saw an increase in the number of
carers attending
The Terry Snow Foundation continued to support the wig service
There were 460 contacts to the wig service

•

Provide community based cancer education sessions
with guest speakers, including health professionals
and specialists
Provide a balance of emotional support and education
through the facilitated support groups

•

The Council granted over $30,000 towards cancer research and
related projects in the ACT

•

Continue to fund suitable cancer research projects in
the ACT

•

Fundraising Events raised a total of $847,300 an increase of
11% from the previous year
Signiﬁcant growth in Pink Ribbon Day and Girls Night In resulting
in a 38% income increase for Pink Ribbon Day and 64% for Girls
Night In
Continued success and growth in long standing fundraising
events, such as Daffodil Day and Australia’s Biggest Morning Tea

•
•
•

Maintain or exceed the funds raised for 2006–07
Further develop donor appeal acquisition campaigns
Continue to seek and develop new fundraising
opportunities
Further develop the Bequest Program

•
•
•
•

•
•

•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

•

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

•

•
•
•
•

•

•

•

•

Implementation of ACT Youth Smoking Prevention
Project for out of school youth
Conduct more than two “workplace courses”
Conduct more than four “quit smoking seminars”
Conduct more than two “community courses”
Conduct more than two “youth cessation courses”
Conduct more than four “individual courses”
Conduct more than four “brief interventions”
Conduct more than three “Quit” training seminars for
health professionals

Encourage early childhood centres, primary schools
and after school centres to join the SunSmart program
Support Commonwealth campaign over summer
2007–08.
Encourage ACT workplaces to participate in a
SunSmart information session
Encourage local outdoor workplaces to implement
a comprehensive sun protection program and to
participate in a SunSmart Information Session
Encourage all secondary schools and colleges to
promote skin cancer prevention and awareness during
NSCAW. (new 60 Minutes resources)
Update and create an interactive and informative
SunSmart section of the new TCCACT website.
Purchase and make accessible new resources,
including Kidskin for Yr 4
Continue encouraging local clubs, organisations and
events to promote SunSmart
Liaise with and train local weather stations toward
accurately reporting and promoting the daily SunSmart
UV Alert on TV/Radio
Continue to build working relationships with ACT
organisations ie. ACT Workcover, The Raiders,
Neighbourhood Watch, etc
Support state/federal governments’ decision to
regulate solariums
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Vice Chancellor’s Award for
Community Outreach 2006

The Vice-Chancellor’s Award for Community
Outreach recognises the outstanding contribution
of University staff who volunteer their time, skills
and expertise to community outreach programs
and activities.
Serving as President since 2001, Dr White has
worked tirelessly to advance the cause of caring
for those with cancer, and of raising funds in the
search for a cure for cancer.
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Congratulations Kevin.

Above: Dr Kevin White receiving the Vice Chancellor’s Award for Community Outreach from Vice Chancellor Ian Chubb
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MISSION DELIVERY

Cancer Prevention and
Early Detection Program

Ms Bronwyn Burr, Manager
Tobacco Control Services

TOBACCO CONTROL
Tobacco smoking remains the single largest
preventable cause of premature death and ill
health in Australia with approximately 15,500
Australians dying each year from smoking
related diseases. There is strong evidence that
environmental tobacco smoke or passive smoking
also causes serious health effects.
The smoking cessation and prevention service
provided by The Cancer Council ACT aims to
reduce the impact of tobacco smoking through the
provision of information, advice and support to
smokers who want to quit. The service also works
to prevent the uptake of smoking in the ACT.
Tobacco control services provided by The
Council include quit smoking courses for groups
and individuals, quit smoking seminars, brief
interventions, Quit Skills seminars for health
professionals, and the Quitline.
The Council targets four main groups:
1. people who smoke (cessation services);
2. groups which contain both smokers and nonsmokers (cessation/prevention services);
3. young people who have not yet taken up
smoking (prevention services); and
4. health professionals who want to learn how
to help their clients stop smoking (increasing
community capacity).
In 2006–07 there were a total of 3,169 contacts
made with The Council’s Smoking Cessation
Service. (Each contact a client has with staff of
the Smoking Cessation Service is counted as a
contact.) Additionally over 3,000 Quit Packs
and quit smoking information materials were
distributed to individuals and organisations
including hospitals and medical and dental clinics
in the Canberra region.
The Council has continued to build on previous
work in providing smoking cessation services
to all sectors of the community including
workplaces, schools and areas of speciﬁc
disadvantage. In particular, strong partnerships
have been built between The Council and
Samaritan House, Winnunga Nimmityjah
Aboriginal Health Service, the Mental Health
Foundation, Karralika Therapeutic Community
and different government departments.
2006–07 was the third successive year The Council
provided Quit Smoking courses, including
subsidised nicotine replacement therapy for
people experiencing speciﬁc disadvantage.

In particular, The Council implemented some
recommendations made in the independent
evaluation of the program conducted by ACT
Health to maximise health outcomes for
participants in relation to smoking reduction and
also other health determinants.
A gratifying outcome of the course was other
positive lifestyle changes made by participants as a
result of participating in the course. For example:
Doing
more/
Improved

No
Change

Doing
Less

Exercise

91%

9%

0%

Nutrition/Diet

82%

18%

0%

Time spent on
other activities

82%

18%

0%

$ Saved

55%

45%

0%

Unfortunately, due to TCCACT’s application for
funding being unsuccessful, The Council will not
be able to run the program at the same level in
2007–08.
A harm minimisation approach was adopted with
the youth courses. This included encouraging and
equipping young people with the knowledge and
skills to quit and/or reduce their level of smoking
to minimise harm to themselves and others.
Whilst quit rates were low (6%), it is noteworthy
that 67% of the participants reduced their
smoking rate and had a period of at least one day
without cigarettes during the course.
Participants also identiﬁed beneﬁts experienced
from reducing their smoking rate including:
having more money (83%), feeling healthier
(67%), not needing to hide something (83%) and
not being smelly (58%). It is hoped that these
beneﬁts will be motivating factors for participants
to continue to make positive changes in their
smoking behaviour.
Work in building community capacity through
Quitskills training for health professionals has
been a goal of the Tobacco Control program
this year. The aim of the Quit Skills seminars is
to increase the skills and knowledge of health
professionals to better equip them to help their
clients quit smoking.
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Quitline
The Quitline is a conﬁdential telephone service
providing information, advice and support to
smokers who want to quit.
Anyone in Australia can call the Quitline –
13 7848 (13 QUIT) for the cost of a local call
(mobile phones excepted). In the ACT, all calls
are answered 24 hours a day, 7 days a week and
an advisor is available 9.00am – 5.00pm, Monday
to Friday. All callers are offered a Quit pack which
includes useful quitting information.
A call back service is also available to people who
request ongoing telephone support whilst they are
quitting. These clients are called up to six times at
appropriate times to provide maximum support.
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The Council’s aim for the Quitline in 2006–07 was
to maintain or increase Quitline call numbers and
numbers of callers still quit at 6 and 12 months.
The number of Quitline calls received this year
was 2,060, up on the 1,626 received last year. This
is reﬂective of a general increase in calls to the
Quitline nationally, which has been attributed
to the introduction of the health warnings
campaign, including graphic warnings on
cigarette packets. There was also a slight increase
in calls from January to March 2007, which
corresponds with the Commonwealth funded
youth mass media campaign which ran during
the same period.
As a member of the National Quit Group the
Council has contributed to the development of
the Minimum National Standards and protocols
for the Quitline in Australia. Similarly, as a
member of the Quit Resource Working Party
it contributed to the development of a revised
Quit because you can booklet and a new quitting
resource, titled Choosing the best way to quit.
Both resources are included in the Quit Pack.
The Quit because you can resource is also
available online.

An evaluation of the service shows that in
2006–07, of 55 course participants contacted 3-6
months after completion of a Quit course, 40%
were still quit. For those who had relapsed, a
number reported they had reduced the number
of cigarettes they were smoking. This compares
favourably with quitting rates achieved by other
courses eg. Quit Victoria’s Fresh Start Course has a
23% quit rate at 12 months. A direct comparison
is difﬁcult however as The Council offers nicotine
replacement therapy (NRT) to participants in some
courses and there is evidence to suggest that using
NRT in conjunction with support, such as that
provided in a Quit course, can double the Quit
success rate. Follow up evaluation was also done
at 3–6 months, not 12 months.
Eight Quit Skills training sessions for health
professionals were conducted in 2006–07,
compared to two sessions in 2005–06. Building
community capacity in this way was a key goal
of The Council’s Tobacco control program in
2006–07. (See details below)
Details of the target groups and course settings are
as follows:

Workplace Cessation Courses
Provided for:
• Department of Finance and Administration
• Department of Transport & Regional Services
• Gungahlin Lakes Golf Club
• Vikings Club x 2

Community Cessation Courses/
Speciﬁc Disadvantage
• Erindale Community Courses – Erindale
College
• The Cancer Council ACT; General community
course

Quit Smoking Courses

• Karralika Therapeutic Community

Quit smoking courses are offered to individuals,
community and school groups and workplaces.
The courses offered include the Quit Fresh Start
Course (8 x 1 hour sessions or 4 x 2 hour sessions)
and the Quit Short Course with Quitline Support
(2 x 2 hour session, plus follow up Quitline
support). Quit smoking seminars are also offered
with the aim of motivating people to quit or
educating to prevent uptake.

• Winnunga Nimmityjah Aboriginal Health
Service x 2

The Council provided a total of 49 courses
and seminars in 2006–07. This included four
workplace courses, seven community courses,
three youth courses, fourteen individual courses
and twenty-one seminars.
This is a slightly higher number than 2005–06
(39). In particular there was a signiﬁcant increase
in demand for Quit Seminars. This can be partially
attributed to the introduction of the ACT’s
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Smoking (Prohibition in Enclosed Public Places)
Regulation 2005 introduced on 1 December 2006.

• Mental Health Foundation

Individual Cessation Courses
12 individual courses were provided, including
a number to clients experiencing speciﬁc
disadvantage; eg. mental health consumers.
This is a decrease from the 21 courses
conducted in 2005–06 and can be attributed
to the Quitline being actively promoted as an
alternative cessation support service. This was
particularly helpful for people who could not
attend face-to-face meetings due to not having
access to transportation.

Cessation/Prevention Courses and
Seminars for Young People

Brief Interventions
The Council conducted 13 brief interventions
in 2006–07. A brief intervention is a one-off session
intended to have therapeutic effect. They are provided
for individuals from a variety of backgrounds who are
unlikely to attend a whole course.

Provided at:
• Lake Tuggeranong College
• Canberra High School
• Calwell High School

• Kaleen Primary School

Another aim of this strategy is to get tobacco control
on the organisation’s agenda. In one setting in
2006–07, a brief intervention was conducted with the
secondary aim of modelling the strategy to employees,
and in doing so, building community capacity.

• Galilee School

Provided for:

Youth/School Seminars
• Wanniassa High School

• Samaritan House x 10

Quit Smoking Seminars

• Gungahlin Lakes Community & Golf Club

Provided for:

• Drug & Alcohol Detox Unit

• Therapeutic Goods Administration

• Ted Noffs Foundation

• Gungahlin Lakes Golf Club x 2
• Canberra Tradesman’s Union Club

Service Promotion Seminars

• Defence Housing Authority x 2

Service promotion seminars were not conducted in
2006–07.

• The Canberra Hospital
• ACT Health
• The Irish Club, Weston

Quit Skills seminars for health professionals

• Hellenic Club, Woden

Provided for:

• Canberra Labor Club, Belconnen

• The Canberra Hospital, Drug and Alcohol Detox
Unit x 3

• Australian Federal Police
• Royal Australian Mint
• Department of Transport & Regional Services
• Department of Communication, IT & the Arts
• IP Australia

• Health Care Workers, broader ACT Health
Community
• ACT Division of General Practice
• City Mental Health
• Dental Hygienists’ Association

• Australian Taxation Ofﬁce

• Department of Education and Training

Number of Client Contacts, Courses and Seminars – Cessation Services
2006–07
Contact/Courses
and Seminars

2005–06
Contact/Courses
and Seminars

2004–05
Contact/Courses
and Seminars

Workplace Courses

65/4

167/6

158/7

Community Courses

267/7

239/8

432/7

Individual Courses

44/14

89/21

118/36

Youth Courses

94/3

123/3

212/8

0

0

150/1

Type

Tertiary Courses
Brief Interventions

80/13

73/9

0

Quit Smoking Seminars

395/21

29/3

99/16

0

30/2

30/4

Service Promotion Seminars
Quitline Calls
Total

2,060

1,626

1,925

3,005/60

2,376/52

3,124/79

Courses to Build Community Capacity of Others to Help Smokers Quit
Type
Quit Skills seminars for
health professionals

2006–07
Contact/Courses

2005–06
Contact/Courses

2004–05
Contact/Courses

164/8

18/2

45/10
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The 2006–07 Project

Ms Tamara Shanley, Manager

Ms Tamara Shanley,
ACT YSPP Manager

ACT YOUTH SMOKING
PREVENTION PROJECT
ACT Youth Smoking
Prevention Project
The Cancer Council ACT has made a substantial
contribution to the cause of youth smoking
prevention through the ACT Youth Smoking
Prevention Project (ACT YSPP) during the 2006–07
year with the development and implementation
of a Youth Smoking Prevention and Cessation
Resource Pack for all government and nongovernment ACT high schools.
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Background
The origins of the ACT YSPP stem back to 2001,
when the Australian Capital Territory (ACT)
Government, through the then ACT Department
of Health, Housing and Community Care,
developed an internal Scoping Report entitled
‘Towards a Youth Smoking Prevention Strategy for
the ACT’, demonstrating its commitment to doing
more to address youth smoking in our region.
This report recommended that a comprehensive,
multi-faceted Youth Smoking Prevention Strategy
be developed in the ACT and suggested that the
Western Australian (WA) Smarter than Smoking
package of interventions represented the most
relevant model for the needs of the ACT.
In 2003, The Council was awarded two-year
funding by ACT Health to develop an effective
and sustainable local strategy for youth smoking
prevention – the ACT YSPP. This work included
testing the Smarter than Smoking program to
determine its suitability and efﬁcacy within
the ACT.
The ﬁndings of this two-year research project were
formally reported to ACT Health in 2005, with
45 recommendations for how to proceed with an
ACT YSPP. These ﬁndings were summarised in
The Council’s 2004–05 Annual Report.
Importantly, this research found that interventions
within the WA Smarter than Smoking Project were
effective in, and appropriate for, the ACT context.

In June 2006, The Council received funding
from ACT Health to pursue its recommendations
around school-based youth smoking prevention
interventions. This involved developing a
Resource Pack for piloting in six ACT high schools
in early 2007, from which recommendations were
to be prepared for rolling out the Resource Pack in
all schools in 2007–08.
As a partnership project between The Council,
ACT Health and the ACT Department of
Education and Training, a Steering Committee
was established to oversee this work comprising
representatives from all three partner
organisations. A Project Manager was also
appointed within The Council.
In the second half of 2006, the Project Manager,
in consultation with the Steering Committee,
worked to develop the Resource Pack which was
intended to be piloted in schools in early 2007.
However, attempts to conduct the pilot program
within schools were met with a number of
obstacles, in part due to instabilities within the
public education sector at this time. This led The
Council’s project partners to conclude in early
2007 that rather than conduct a pilot, it would
be more effective and efﬁcient to implement the
Resource Pack in all ACT high schools in Term 2 of
2007, in collaboration with the ACT Department
of Education and Training.

Aim and Development of the
Resource Pack
The aim of the Resource Pack, in line with the
recommendations contained in The Council’s
2005 Report, is to provide comprehensive
support to schools, working as a whole school
community in partnership with parents and the
wider community, to address youth smoking
prevention and cessation within a broad student
well-being framework.
The contents of the Pack have been determined
based on the recommendations from the 2005
Report and a review of recent developments in
youth smoking interventions by the Australian
Government and under the WA Smarter than
Smoking Project.
The contents of the Resource Pack are based around
the following broad categories, which relate to
the recommendations for school interventions
presented in The Council’s 2005 Report:
• Drug Education Framework Resources
• Classroom Curriculum Resources
• Cessation Resources
• Whole of School Resources, including –
– Engaging with Parents
– Peer Led Education
– Professional Development for School Staff
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Many of the resources are already available to ACT
high schools, including a number of resources
developed by the Australian Government
Department of Education, Science and Training
under the Resilience Education and Drug
Information (REDI) program.
In addition, four resources originating from WA
have been localised for the ACT for inclusion in
the Pack, these being:
• Keeping Ahead of the Pack – a lower secondary
classroom resource which has been aligned
to the ACT draft curriculum framework in
the learning areas of English, Health and
Physical Activity, and Studies of Society and
Environment;
• Clearing the Air: Talking with Children and
Teenagers about Smoking – information for
parents;
• Smart Moves on Smoking – cessation guidance for
youth; and
• Keep Left: Youth Smoking Cessation Guide for
Schools – a resource for school staff working
with students who smoke to assist students to
quit or reduce their smoking.
The ﬁrst three of these resources come from
the WA Smarter than Smoking Project. Keep Left
originates from the WA Smoking Cessation for
Youth Project undertaken by the Centre for Health
Promotion Research, School of Public Health,
Curtin University of Technology.
Together, the components of the Resource Pack
form a powerful toolbox for schools to ensure
they have the capacity to tackle these issues
using a current best practice, evidence based
approach. Developed as a dynamic resource, the
Pack will also be reviewed periodically by the
ACT Department of Education and Training as
effective new resources, research and/or initiatives
are produced to ensure the Pack’s currency and
efﬁcacy.

Ongoing development and support for schools
using this Resource Pack is vital for the Pack’s
effectiveness to be realised. This support will be
provided by the ACT Department of Education
and Training, with The Council continuing to
provide complementary assistance to schools
through our Tobacco Control Service Program.
The Resource Pack also has the support of the
Catholic Education Ofﬁce (Archdiocese of
Canberra and Goulburn), the Association for
Independent Schools of the ACT, and the School
Youth Support Workers’ Network.

Final Remarks
The Council is proud of the signiﬁcant
contributions it has made to this Project since
2003. The constructive relationships built between
the project partners will assist in a coordinated
approach to policy and service delivery in the area
of youth smoking prevention and cessation.
The project partners acknowledge the positive and
conscientious work done by ACT high schools
in the area of smoking prevention over recent
years, which has undoubtedly contributed to an
encouraging reduction in youth smoking rates in
the ACT (as reported in the 2005 ACT Secondary
Students Alcohol and Drug Survey). It is our hope
that the resources provided in the Resource Pack,
together with our continued collaborative support
for this initiative, will strengthen the capacity
of our schools and wider community to further
contribute to successful efforts in this area.

Implementation of the
Resource Pack
The Council, together with our project partners,
launched the Youth Smoking Prevention and
Cessation Resource Pack for ACT high schools on
World Health Organization World No Tobacco Day,
31 May 2007, at Melba High School. The Council
conducted a design competition inviting ACT
high school students to develop a design and tag
line to brand the Resource Pack.
Along with the ACT Department of Education
and Training, The Council has also facilitated a
professional development workshop open to all
ACT high school teachers and welfare staff to
familiarise schools with the Pack and guide them
in its implementation. This workshop was run
on 28 June 2007, with a second workshop being
planned for the second half of 2007.

The launch of Youth Smoking Prevention and
Cessation Resource Pack at Melba High
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The Cancer Council was happy to support the
Commonwealth government’s national TV
skin cancer prevention and awareness campaign
which ran through the peak period of the
06/07 summer, and will support any future
Commonwealth campaigns aimed at educating
the public about the dangers associated with solar
UV radiation exposure.
Mr David Wild, SunSmart
Services Coordinator

Workplace Strategies
SunSmart Workplace Information Sessions

PROTECTION FROM SOLAR
ULTRAVIOLET RADIATION
It is well known that Australia has the highest
rate of skin cancer in the world, with exposure
to solar UV radiation being the major causative
factor in the development of melanoma and
non-melanoma skin cancers (NMSC). In 2005
1,678 Australians died from some form of skin
cancer. Melanoma is the 3rd most common form
of cancer, with incidence rates now exceeding
that of lung cancer.
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In ﬁnancial terms, skin cancer is a major burden
on the Australian health system costing it
around $300 million annually, the highest cost
of all cancers.
The Cancer Council Australia’s National Cancer
Prevention Policy 2007-09 lists national health
promotion strategies aimed at effecting skin
cancer prevention and early detection. These
include positive changes in the attitudes of
Australians towards sun protection with a
particular emphasis on young people, an increase
in knowledge and application of the UV Index to
sun protection behaviours, protection of young
people in caring and educational settings, an
increase in the amount of natural and constructed
shade in public settings, improved sun protection
practices among outdoor workers, the safer
operation and promotion of solariums and
increased knowledge of skin cancer prevention
strategies among professional groups.
During 2006–07 The Cancer Council ACT once
again focused on raising awareness of skin
cancer prevention amongst ACT early childhood
settings, primary schools, outdoor workers, local
workplaces and the general population through
the SunSmart program and by providing general
skin cancer prevention and awareness sessions
throughout Canberra.
The Council took part in the National Science
Week with an information display stand at The
Amazing Science Expo held over 5 days at the
National Convention Centre. The Council also
had a comprehensive and informative display
in partnership with Diabetes ACT at The Royal
Canberra Show. The Expo and the Show are great
opportunities to promote cancer prevention and
general awareness to a very broad audience.
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The purpose of these information sessions is to
increase skin cancer prevention and awareness
amongst participants (and their families) and to
provide access to cancer information resources
with the ultimate goal of having the participants
adopt positive SunSmart behaviours on all
appropriate occasions.
The Council provided 17 SunSmart Workplace
Information Sessions during the 06/07 period.
This was up considerably on the previous year.
The following ACT workplaces took part in
the sessions:
• ACT Wound Management
• ActewAGL
• ACTION buses
• Australian Fisheries Management Authority
• Australian Pesticides & Veterinary Medicines
Authority
• Australian Taxation Ofﬁce x 2
• Department of Defence x 3
• Department of Finance and Administration
• Department of Industry Tourism and Resources
• Karinya House
• Medicare Australia
• Optimum Training and Development
• Ted Noffs Foundation
In total 324 employees attended these workplace
information sessions. On completion of each
session, the organisation is required to complete
and return to The Council an evaluation form.
All feedback to date has been very positive.

Outdoor Workplace Strategies
SunSmart Outdoor Workplace
Information Sessions
The workplace is a major source of solar UV
exposure for many adult Australians. It is not
surprising that outdoor workers who are required
to spend long periods of time working in the sun,
day after day, year after year, have a higher than
average risk of developing skin cancer.

The Council encourages all local outdoor
workplaces to have a comprehensive sun
protection program in place that includes:
• Risk assessment
• Sun protection control measures
• Training
• Sun protection policy
• Monitoring
During the 2006–07 summer period, The Council,
in collaboration with ACT Workcover, launched
an extensive sun safety campaign targeting
roughly 100 local outdoor worksites and over 800
individual workers. Each employee received an
information pack which highlighted strategies
on minimising the risk of skin cancer from
occupational sun exposure. Employers and
OH & S ofﬁcers also received information packs
on how best to protect their workers from
the damaging effects caused by occupational
exposure to solar UV radiation. Employers were
also encouraged to host a SunSmart Workplace
Information Session as part of their OH & S
training and education commitment.
During the 2006–07 period The Cancer Council
provided 16 SunSmart Outdoor Workplace
Information Sessions. The following workplaces
are to be commended for their commitment
toward skin cancer prevention and awareness in
the workplace.
• ACT Parks, Conservation and Land x 8
• Dept of Environment and Heritage (Botanical
Gardens)
• CTR Paciﬁc Bricklayers
• Delnas Metal Rooﬁng

The Cancer Council’s Portable
Information Display (PID)
The Cancer Council’s new Portable Information
Display can be borrowed by local workplaces,
organisations and government departments for
special events and health awareness weeks etc. It
covers a broad range of information on general
cancer prevention, early detection and awareness
including SunSmart and Quit. It is designed
to give all employees in local workplaces the
opportunity to access up-to-date, evidence-based
cancer information.
This year, 9 local organisations took advantage of
the Cancer Council’s new Portable Information
Display. They were:
• Australian Quarantine and Inspection Service
• Bunnings – Tuggeranong
• Department of Defence
• Department of Transport and Regional Services
• Kids Caper Expo
• Medicare Australia
• Mental Health Foundation – Well Being Fiesta
• Southern Cross Health Club
• University of Canberra – Health Expo

General requests
During the year The Council’s Sunsmart
Service responded to more than 70 requests for
information relating to skin cancer prevention,
early detection and awareness. Requests came
from local businesses, schools, doctors’ ofﬁces,
workplaces, government departments and
other organisations.

• Ecowise Services x 2
• PBS Management Company x 3

The SunSmart Program

In total, 267 local outdoor employees took part
in the SunSmart Outdoor Workplace Information
Sessions. All feedback received was once again
very positive.

The Council implements both the National
SunSmart Schools Program and the SunSmart
Early Childhood Centre Program in the ACT.
Both programs aim to motivate and assist
primary schools and early childhood centres in
developing and implementing a comprehensive
sun protection policy that meets minimum
national standards relating to curriculum and
educational play experiences, behaviour and the
environment. Through the program, schools and
early childhood centres work to meet speciﬁed
national sun protection standards and as a result
are awarded “SunSmart” status by The Council.

Workplace Resources Developed
The Cancer Council has recently updated and
released the following new national workplace
resources. These resources have been speciﬁcally
developed to remind outdoor workers of the
dangers associated with over-exposure to
solar ultraviolet radiation, and guides workers
towards ways they can minimise their chances of
developing skin cancer.
• Skin cancer and outdoor work – A guide for
employers (booklet)
• Skin cancer and outdoor work – A guide for
working safely in the sun (brochure)
These have been made available free of charge to
all Canberra outdoor workplaces.

The National Sunsmart Primary
School Program
Up on last year, 7 new schools achieved SunSmart
status during the 2006–07 period, whilst an
additional 3 are participating in the program but
have not yet achieved SunSmart status. During
2006–2007, an additional 27 SunSmart primary
schools took part in the SunSmart review process.
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During this period The Council received the
recent ﬁndings from the national Sun Protection
Policies and Practices in Australian Primary Schools
survey – trends from 1998–2005. It concluded, that
overall, ACT schools have a high standard of both
sun protection policy and practices. The report
did note that ACT schools should be encouraged
to use a wider range of sun protection strategies
in order to minimise childhood UV exposure
during school hours. It also highlighted that
non-SunSmart schools reported that they lacked
information about the program and that more
information would encourage them to join.
The Cancer Council will continue to promote
the program.

The SunSmart Early Childhood Program
Since its launch in November 2004 The SunSmart
Early Childhood Program has continued to grow.
During the 06/07 period, 19 new Early Childhood
Centres throughout the ACT achieved SunSmart
status. An additional 17 centres participating in
the program are yet to achieve SunSmart status.
25 SunSmart centres had their sun protection
policies reviewed during the period with necessary
recommendations being sent out to assist centres
in further improving their sun protection policy
and practices.
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New Parents’ Information Pack
The Council once again supplied information
sheets to the following two organisations
for inclusion in their information packs for
new parents.

Local sporting clubs and
organisation promote SunSmart
Throughout the year, The Cancer Council has
encouraged local sporting clubs and associations
to help us promote healthy sun protection
behaviour amongst their members and guests.
By hosting a SunSmart link on club websites,
local clubs and associations can play an active role
towards minimising skin cancer incidence rates
in Canberra. The Council continues to encourage
local sporting clubs and associations to promote
positive sun protection behaviour and welcomes
new clubs throughout Canberra to participate.

National Events help promote
SunSmart behaviour
Each year Canberra plays host to a number
of nationally acclaimed annual events. These
primarily outdoor events attract large numbers
of local and interstate visitors of all ages and
backgrounds. This year The Cancer Council would
like to acknowledge and thank the following
festivals for promoting SunSmart behaviour on
their websites as a reminder to all visitors to take
care in the sun.
• Floriade
• The National Multicultural Festival

• Kidsafe – New Parents’ Information Pack.

• The National Folk Festival

• Queanbeyan Community Health and Planning
– Literacy bag

Vitamin D
The risks and beneﬁts of sun exposure

ACT Secondary Schools
and Colleges
60 Minutes – Sunburnt Country
The recent 2005 ACT Secondary Students Alcohol
and Drug Survey (ASSAD) reported a reduction in
sun protection behaviour amongst ACT secondary
school students. Whilst we have known for some
time that teenagers are a difﬁcult group to target
when it comes to sun protection, we have lacked
appropriate teaching materials for this hard to
reach age group.
Toward the end of 2006, The Cancer Council
Australia, in cooperation with 60 Minutes,
released 60 Minutes – Sunburnt Country, a new
national DVD resource aimed at educating
secondary school students about the real dangers
associated with too much sun. The Cancer
Council ACT has secured copies of this new
national resource and will be encouraging all
ACT high schools and colleges to implement this
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confronting yet powerful resource into schools
over the coming summer. The resource will be
promoted and available free of charge to all ACT
high schools and colleges during the 2007–08
summer period.

In June this year The Cancer Council Australia
teamed up with Osteoporosis Australia, Australian
and New Zealand Bone and Mineral Society and
The Australasian College of Dermatologists to
release new guidelines telling Australians how
much sun they need to avoid vitamin D deﬁciency
and stay healthy without increasing their risk of
skin cancer.
The new guidelines follow research showing that
some Australians are deliberately seeking sun
exposure over summer because they are concerned
about vitamin D deﬁciency.
The new guidelines recommend:
• Fair skinned people can maintain adequate
vitamin D levels in summer from a few minutes
of exposure to sunlight on their face, arms and
hands or the equivalent area of skin on either
side of the peak UV alert periods on most days
of the week.

• In winter in the southern parts of Australia,
where UV radiation levels are less intense,
people need about 2–3 hours of sunlight to the
face, arms and hands or equivalent area of skin
over a week.
The new position statement Risks and Beneﬁts
of Sun Exposure can be viewed on The Cancer
Council Australia website.

Solarium
Solarium boom shocks skin cancer
experts
New ﬁgures published in the Australian New
Zealand Journal of Public Health showed that the
numbers of solariums in Australian capital cities
in 2006 had increased four fold compared to a
decade earlier. In Canberra alone there has been
a 425% increase since 1996 (not including beauty
salons and gyms).
This is of major concern with a recent study by
the International Agency for Research on Cancer
concluding that using solariums regularly before
the age of 35 boosted the risk of developing
melanoma by 75%.
Contrary to popular misconception, solariums
are not a ‘safer’ way to tan; in fact solariums emit
ultraviolet radiation that can be up to ﬁve times as
strong as the midday sun in summer.
In Australia, a voluntary code of practice is in
place to address safety issues associated with
solarium use. However, studies in four Australian
states revealed poor compliance with many
aspects of the code among solarium operators,
including enforcing age restrictions, providing
consent forms, and barring access to users with
skin type 1.
The Cancer Council urges state and territory
governments to step in and regulate the industry.
Whilst legislation is already in place in many
parts of the USA and Europe, it is extraordinary
that Australia, which has the highest skin cancer
rates in the world, has not yet regulated such an
industry that is proven to increase a person’s risk
of developing skin cancer.

Ms Joanne Grant,
Manager of
Corporate Services

Mr Collin
Finnigan,
Mr Collin
Finnegan,
Shop
Shop Manager
and
Manager
and Ofﬁce
Ofﬁ
ce Coordinator
Coordinator

THE CANCER COUNCIL
ACT SHOP
The Cancer Council ACT shop has two primary
purposes:
1. to increase the availability of good quality sun
protection clothing, accessories and sun-screen
skin products at competitive prices; and
2. to make a proﬁt.
Promotion and advertising of shop products also
increases public awareness of the importance of
sun protection.
There has been an increase in the number of sales
and the number of customers in the ﬁnancial year
ending 30 June 2007. The location at Fairbairn
has proved to be more attractive as development
in the area has increased, and as the community
became more aware of our new location. Mass
distribution of our catalogue has also increased
the number of customers.
The most popular products are sunglasses and
ﬁtovers, with protective swimsuits for children
and adults being extremely popular also. There is
a huge range of products, including many styles
of hats as well as lesser known products such as
comfortable pull-on sleeves to protect the arms
while driving.
The Cancer Council ACT has also taken its sun
protection products to the public at an Australia
Day stall at the National Museum and at numerous
educational activities throughout the year.
Sales of $163,763 for this ﬁnancial year were up by
$55,304 on the previous year, which was a great
result, and enabled the shop to break even this
year. Any proﬁt made by the shop will be used for
the ongoing work of The Cancer Council ACT.
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Multi – Prevention Message Activities

CANCER PREVENTION AND
PRUDENT EARLY DETECTION
The Cancer Council ACT promotes ﬁve main
messages in its mission to prevent cancer and
detect cancer early:
1. Avoid tobacco smoke
2. Protect your skin from the sun at the
appropriate times
3. Eat a nutritious diet
4. Be physically active
5. Be vigilant to detect cancer early
The Council promotes all the above cancer
prevention and early detection messages together
through a variety of modes, such as:

Health Promotion Booths and
Information Displays

Community Awareness
The Council has also continued to work towards
increasing community awareness and advocating
for positive changes in smoking legislation.
In addition, quit smoking messages were
communicated via Canberra radio, television
and print media during 2006–07.
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Health Promotion Booths are stands or display
tables, or Portable Information Displays (PIDs)
offering a wide variety of resources to the

participants in particular events who visit the
booth or display. Sometimes, such as at the
Amazing World of Science, the booth is staffed
and sometimes it is not. Material on offer may
include information on speciﬁc cancers, Quit
information, Quit kits, and general cancer
prevention and early detection information.
One very popular display is the ‘body parts’.
The morgue at The Canberra Hospital kindly lends
The Council preserved body parts which have been
affected by various cancers. These provide great
starting points to discuss the importance of cancer
prevention and prudent early detection. At some
outdoor events, The Council provided sunscreen
for the public to apply at no charge, and we found
people made full use of this free service.

The Cancer Council’s display at the Royal Canberra Show
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Cancer Information and
Supportive Care Program

CANCER INFORMATION
SERVICE
The Cancer Information Service provides current,
evidence based information on all aspects of
cancer, to people with cancer, their families and
carers, health professionals and the general public.
The service provides information (but no medical
advice), emotional support and referral to The
Council’s Supportive Care services or other
relevant services in the community. Clients may
access information through:
• the Cancer Council Helpline on 13 11 20;
• an e-mail service;
• written publications;
• The Cancer Council ACT website,
www.actcancer.org;
• a quarterly newsletter, The Council Chronicle;
• a lending library; and
• a walk in consultation service.
1424 contacts were made to the Cancer
Information Service in 2006–07, which is 180
contacts more than the previous ﬁnancial year.
Under usual circumstances this might have been

Ms Kate Aigner, Cancer
Information Consultant

Ms Jane Beaumont,
Supportive Care Coordinator

higher because calls to the ACT Cancer Council
Helpline were diverted to The Cancer Council
NSW (TCCNSW) Helpline for 2.5 days each week
and TCCNSW only supply to us the number of
ACT calls they receive and not the numbers of
calls from the area of NSW surrounding the ACT
that The Council would usually take.
Telephone calls remain the most common form
of contacting the service, with 1343 calls (90%
of all contacts) this ﬁnancial year. The number of
people visiting The Council for information has
dropped considerably in recent years, with only
5 visits in 2006–07 compared with 63 visits in
2004–05 and 27 visits in 2005–06. The decline in
visitor numbers is most likely due to our location
in Fairbairn, which is not in a populous part of
Canberra, although easily reached from most
parts. The decline may also be due to people
increasingly using the internet to access data.

Cancer Information Service Data
Service

2006–07
Clients

2005–06
Clients

2004–05
Clients

1343

1,154

1,540

Visit

5

27

63

E-mail

66

58

45

Fax and mail

10

5

5

1424

1,244

1,653

2006–07
Percentage

2005–06
Percentage

2004–5
Percentage

Telephone

94%

93%

93.2%

Visit

0.4%

2%

3.8%

5%

4.6%

2.7%

Fax and mail

0.6%

0.4%

0.3%

Total

100%

100%

100%

Telephone

Total

Service

E-mail
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Cancer Information Service Contacts
2006–07

1800

2005–06

2004–05

Number of Contacts

1600
1400
1200
1000
800
600
400
200
0
Telephone

Visit

E-mail

Fax and mail

Contact Type
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Another factor is that the Information Service
was only staffed part time in 2006–07 (50% of
full time) leaving any visits to The Council on the
other days going unrecorded.
About 1,150 people were diagnosed with cancer in
the ACT during the last year, based on 2006 data.
Evidence suggests that for each person diagnosed
with cancer, there will be an average of two
persons affected by the diagnosis to the extent
that they will seek information from a source
such as The Cancer Council. From this
information, it is estimated that the Cancer
Information Service reached approximately 35%
of those people affected by a diagnosis of cancer
this year. This compares to a national ﬁgure of
53% (The Cancer Council Australia, Proﬁle and
Annual Report 2005) which suggests we have more
work to do in this area.
A breakdown of these contacts shows the
following:
• The majority of clients came from central
Canberra (19.2%) and Belconnen (18.7%).
• 72.3% of clients were female, 25.9% male and
1.8% were unknown (usually e-mail contacts).
• 49.9% of contacts were members of the general
public, 17.6% were family and friends of a
person diagnosed with cancer, 16.9% were
diagnosed cancer patients, 7.8% were health
professionals, 2.8% were workplaces, 0.8% were
teachers and 0.6% were students.
• The most common cancers discussed were,
skin cancer (25.8%), followed by breast cancer
(15.3%).
• Clients contacted the CIS with queries
regarding general information (29.9%), early
detection/symptoms (29.9%), practical issues
(21.7%), treatment (10.8%), prevention/risks
(4.7%) and emotional support (3.4%).
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The Cancer Council Helpline
The Cancer Council Helpline (previously the
Cancer Helpline) on 13 11 20 is part of an
Australia wide Cancer Information Service,
run by members of The Cancer Council Australia
in each state and territory. For the cost of a local
call, callers are connected to experienced staff,
who can provide information on all aspects
of cancer and support to those affected by the
disease. This service is conﬁdential and callers may
remain anonymous if they wish.

Publications
The Cancer Council ACT produces information
sheets and pamphlets on sun protection, cancer
prevention and early detection and the major
cancer types as well as stocking publications from
other members of The Cancer Council Australia,
and other cancer organisations. These publications
are provided free of charge and are distributed
either directly to clients, through the oncology
wards and community health organisations, via
information stands at various events or through
workplaces in the ACT.
Cancer Services ACT 2007–2008, the fourth
edition of The Council’s directory of cancer
related services in the ACT, was produced this
year and continues to be a very popular resource.
Although the directory is already available on
The Council’s website, it will be in a more user
friendly format when the new website is launched
in early 2007–08.

Library Service
The Council’s library has over 1400 publications
on cancer and cancer related topics, with staff
available to guide clients to information in the
library or on the internet. A computer is provided
in the library allowing clients unlimited access to
the internet.

Although exact ﬁgures are not recorded, the
number of people visiting the library appears to
be much less than in previous years. We can only
speculate as to whether this is due to our location,
or due to reasons like the greater community use
of the internet and the comparative currency of
the internet compared with printed material.

E-mail and Website Services
Clients may also contact the service by e-mail,
with 66 e-mail contacts made in 2006–07, this is
up slightly on the 58 e-mails received in 2005–06.
The Cancer Council ACT website www.actcancer.
org is also maintained by the Cancer Information
Service. During 2006–07, there were 80,530
visits to The Council’s website, this is less than the
117,000 visits in 2005–06. The Council has been
redeveloping its website during 2006–07 and
the new website is expected to go ‘live’ in
early 2007–08.

Supportive Care Service Data
Service

2006–07
Contacts

2005–06
Contacts

2004–05
Contacts

Support
Groups

225

374

500

Wig Service

360

435

299

Volunteer Peer
Assistance

11

14

34

Other*

152

139

203

Autumn
Cancer Forum

84

Total

832

962

1,036

Service
Support
Groups

2006–07
2005–06
2004–05
Percentage Percentage Percentage
28%

39%

48%

43%

45%

29%

1.5%

3%

14.5%

20%

100%

100%

Wig Service

SUPPORTIVE CARE SERVICE
The Council’s Supportive Care Service is dedicated
to providing support for people who have cancer,
their friends and family members, caregivers and
service providers. The current services offered
include the following:
• three professionally facilitated cancer support
groups: Thursday Cancer Support Group; Breast
Cancer Support Group and Pink Links;
• the Wig Service at two sites;

Volunteer Peer
Assistance

1%

Other*
18%
Autumn
Cancer Forum
Total

10%
100%

* Includes other support provided by the Supportive Care Service
e.g. telephone support

• the Volunteer Peer Assistance program;
• individual information and support provided
over the phone or on The Council’s premises
by paid staff; and
• Cancer Education programs.

Supportive Care Service Contacts
2006–07

2005–06

2004–05

600

Number of Contacts

500
400
300
200
100
0
Support Groups

Wig Service

Volunteer Peer Service

Other

Autumn Cancer
Forum

Service
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In 2006–07, 832 people contacted the Supportive
Care Service by telephone or in person. This was
down by 13% on the 962 contacts for 2005–06
and could be explained by staff shortages.

Support Groups
Three of our groups are based at St Luke’s Parish
Centre in Deakin and TCCACT appreciates the
parish’s support for our cancer support groups.
TCCACT is currently reviewing the future
direction of the cancer support groups and there
may be changes in the groups over the next
12 months. To ensure that TCCACT is offering
a good quality service through our support
groups a survey of people attending the group
was completed in 2007. The survey showed that
those people regularly attending the groups
appreciated the opportunity to meet with others
in similar circumstances and share their personal
experiences of cancer.
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Kidscan
Kidscan was set up a number of years ago as a
playgroup for children under ﬁve years of age who
have cancer or an immune deﬁciency disease.
Despite efforts to promote the program, Kidscan
did not operate in 2006-7 due to insufﬁcient
interest. The most likely reason for the decline in
interest is that new and quicker medical regimens
have made accessing the children less likely.

Thursday Cancer Support Group
This group meets twice a month and is open to
people who have any type of cancer and to their
partners/carers/family members. This is a very
stable group who have lost a number of members
through cancer over the last 12 months. An
increasing number of carers have been attending
these day time meetings.

Breast Cancer Support Group

The Wig Service
The Wig Service offers wigs to people who have
lost their hair as a result of cancer treatment.
The Wig Service operates from two sites – The
Canberra Hospital on a drop in basis for two hours
a day Monday to Wednesday, and The Council’s
ofﬁces at Fairbairn during ofﬁce hours. The Wig
Service at The Canberra Hospital is currently
staffed by 11 dedicated volunteers.
There were a number of changes to the Wig
Service throughout this year. The service now sells
wigs at low cost rather than hiring them out. This
allows clients to personalise the wigs through
trimming and cuts time in the administrative
procedures. After a comprehensive analysis
of long term data, the hours of service at The
Canberra Hospital Wig service were reduced in
January 2007 to Monday to Wednesday and, as
expected, this does not appear to have affected the
number of clients using the service.
This year the Wig Service at TCH was modernised
with new shelving and storage which has made
the room more attractive and private for clients.
The Fairbairn based Wig Service room was
damaged in the hailstorms of March but we were
able to continue to offer a service throughout this
time and the room has since been restored.
Clients of the Wig Service are asked to complete a
Client Satisfaction survey and continually report
satisfaction with the service; and in particular,
the care and support of the volunteers and staff
who assist them. The Wig Service is well placed to
be a ﬁrst point of contact for many people newly
diagnosed with cancer and a good opportunity for
promotion of TCCACT services to cancer patients
and their families. In 2006–07 The Council’s Wig
Service provided 360 occasions of service with
the majority of those assisted being adult women.
This includes visits and sales made by the service.
The average number of wigs sold continues to
be 2-3 per week with some women preferring to
purchase turbans and scarves.

This group meets once a month and is open to
all women who have a breast cancer diagnosis.
The numbers attending this group have been
quite low throughout the year. This may be due
to the increasing range of support services for
breast cancer patients and in particular the service
offered by the breast care nurses.

Pink Links
Pink Links is an open group for younger women
with a diagnosis of breast cancer and is offered
once a month. This group has a steady number
of young women attending and has shown
increasing numbers throughout the later part of
2006–07.
Caption: ????

Perrie Morris, Wig Service Volunteer receiving her ACT Health
Volunteer of the Year Award from the Hon. Margaret Reid
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Volunteer Peer Assistance Program
The Volunteer Peer Assistance Program offers
telephone support to people who have been
recently diagnosed with cancer or who are carers
of those who have cancer. Trained volunteers who
have either had cancer in the past and are now
well, or who have been a carer of someone with
cancer, provide the service. Clients are carefully
matched with reference to their particular needs,
cancer type, treatment, age, sex, social situation
etc.
There have been limited enquiries for this
program in the ACT which may be because the
bigger states are more easily able to meet client
needs. We continue to be active with the Cancer
Connect national network and will respond to
enquiries as required.

Cancer Education Program
More than 80 people attended the Autumn
Cancer Forum. The speakers included health
professionals and specialists who presented up
to date information to people with cancer, their
carers and service providers. The feedback was
very positive and further information sessions
are planned.
The Living with Cancer Education Program
(LWCEP) was not run in 2006–07.
With the help of Roche, the sponsor, and local
cancer charities and support organisations, on
23 September 2006 TCCACT coordinated a
local broadcast of a cancer symposium entitled
Surviving Cancer in Rural and Regional Australia.
The symposium, which took place in Sydney,
was broadcast live via satellite to 58 sites across
Australia. Guest speakers covered topics
including: emotional, social and personal
issues; practical issues; physical recovery
during treatment, post-treatment and ongoing;
traditional and complementary nutritional
management; personal experiences; and, care
giving. Those who attended found it very
informative. A DVD of the symposium is now
available through TCCACT library.
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Research Program

The Cancer Council ACT remains committed to
promoting and supporting research into all aspects
of cancer control including cancer prevention,
detection and treatment, as well as understanding
and improving the psychological and social impact
of the disease. This is achieved through three
primary means:
• by annually providing funds, received from
fundraising activities, to support researchers in
the ACT investigating cancer related issues;
• by participating in and providing data
for research being undertaken by other
oganisations; and by undertaking our own
research.
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• by undertaking our own research.
Each year The Cancer Council ACT provides
funds, received from its fundraising activities, for
independent cancer research projects through
a research grants scheme. The Council invites
researchers in the ACT to apply. Applications are
entered into the National Health and Medical
Research Council’s (NHMRC) national peer review
scheme where they are assessed by national experts
in each ﬁeld. Assessments are then referred back to
the Board via the Research Grants Committee where
the most suitable projects are chosen for funding.
In 2006–07 The Council granted $42,500 towards
cancer research and related projects in the ACT.
Unexpended funds of $11,875 from grants in
the previous year were returned to The Council.
A summary of research projects undertaken in
2006–07 follows:
Project Title: Understanding the role of Kleisin
beta, a subunit of the condensing II complex,
in T cell differentiation
Grant Awarded: $42,500
Principal Investigator: Dr Aude Fahrer, Lecturer,
School of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology,
Australian National University.
The following report has been provided by
Dr Aude Fahrer.
The title of our research project is: “Understanding
the role of kleisin beta, a subunit of the condensin II
complex, in T cell differentiation.”
The research stems from discovering a mutant mouse
strain, called “nessy”, which has abnormal T cells. T
cells are white blood cells critical for ﬁghting infections
and cancers. After many years of work, we were able
to identify the mutated gene causing this white blood
cell problem. To our great surprise, the gene (called
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The Fahrer Lab. Left to Right: Lydia Makaroff, Angelo Theodoratos,
Dr. Aude Fahrer, Kim Yong-Hee and Katharine Gosling.

kleisin beta) is important for chromosome structure
and for cell division. We were able to prove that a
single mistake in this gene caused the abnormal T cell
problem in nessy mice. The aim of our research work
during the last year has been to identify exactly what
was wrong with the T cells, and to start to understand
how this single change in the kleisin beta gene causes
these problems.
The work is related to understanding the molecular
causes of cancer in the following ways:
First, cancer arises due to the failure of the immune
system, particularly T cells, to recognise cancer cells
as foreign. Our work involves studying defective T cell
development and function. Second, cancer arises due
to defective cell division. The mutated gene we have
identiﬁed is important for cell division, and reduction
in the level of the protein has been shown to cause
errors in chromosome separation during cell division.
These sorts of errors are common in many types
of cancer. Lastly, through searches of the scientiﬁc
literature we identiﬁed a possible interaction between
kleisin beta and the protein SCL (stem cell leukaemia).
Over-expression of SCL is the most common genetic
association with T cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia.
Thanks to funding from the ACT Cancer Council, we
have had a very successful 12 months of research. Our
publication explaining our ﬁndings has been accepted
for publication by the prestigious American journal,
Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA.
We have also submitted a second scientiﬁc publication
to another international journal.
Funding by the ACT Cancer Council not only allowed
this work to proceed for 12 months, it has also played
a pivotal role in allowing four research students to
complete their advanced studies. Lydia Makaroff
completed her Ph.D. thesis in January, and has gone
to the University of Washington in Seattle to continue
her career in scientiﬁc research. Katharine Gosling

completed her Ph.D. thesis in March, and is looking at
working for the department of Health and Ageing, or
in scientiﬁc publishing. Angelo Theodoratos plans to
ﬁnish his thesis in October. Kim Yong-Hee successfully
completed his honours research thesis in the lab, and
has gone to the University of New South Wales to
undertake a medical degree.
So thanks to the ACT Cancer Council, we have been
able to successfully continue our research, which has
identiﬁed a novel link between T cell function and
Chromosome structure. The funding has also been
important in completing the training of four research
students, all of whom can go on to make important
contributions to cancer research or treatment.
Thank you ACT Cancer Council!

Several women commented that the list of coping
and side effects included in the questionnaires were
not comprehensive enough. We made an effort to use
the surveys available for researchers and to keep the
questionnaires brief. In so doing, it appears as though
we have missed some of the ways of coping that
were used and the side effects that were experienced.
We hope that future research will address these
issues to ensure that women’s complete experience of
chemotherapy is accurately assessed and understood.
We plan to publish the results of the study in internal
academic journals in the coming year. To date,
the preliminary results of the research have been
presented at conferences in Venice, Italy and Auckland,
New Zealand.

Acknowledgements
Project Title: Coping styles and severity of
toxicity from adjuvant chemotherapy for early
breast cancer
Grant Awarded: $66,000 over three years
(2002–03, 2003–04, 2004–05)
Principal Investigator: Professor Robin StuartHarris (ANU Medical School and Capital Region
Cancer Service) and Professor Don Byrne
(School of Psychology, the Australian National
University)
The study aimed to recruit women who had been
diagnosed with early breast cancer or early colo-rectal
cancer. Unfortunately, very few women with early
colo-rectal cancer agreed to participate in the study.
This meant that we were able to calculate results for
participants with early breast cancer; but we were not
able to calculate the results for participants with colorectal cancer.
Participants completed an interview before starting
chemotherapy treatment and a series of questionnaires
throughout chemotherapy treatment and 6- and 12months following the completion of chemotherapy.
We hope that the results will have two main outcomes.
First, we hope that the research goes some way
to detailing the experience of anxiety, depression
and side effects experienced by women undergoing
chemotherapy treatment for early breast cancer.
Few studies have investigated women’s experience
so intensively. We hope the information regarding
the levels of anxiety, depression and side effects can
be used to better prepare women for the treatment
and to provide health professionals (for example,
psychologists) with a better understanding of the
experience of their patients.
Second, we hope that the research goes some way to
helping health professionals and patients understand
the way in which coping affects wellbeing during and
following chemotherapy. By doing so, it may be possible
for patients to maximise their wellbeing by employing
certain types of coping shown to enhance wellbeing. It is
important, however, that more research is conducted to
conﬁrm the results of the present study before patients
can be encouraged to use certain forms of coping.

We would like to thank the many women who
so generously and patiently participated in the
research. We understand that chemotherapy
treatment presents a signiﬁcant challenge to not
only patients but also their family and friends.
We are most appreciative of the time and effort
spent on participation.
We would also like to thank the many medical
professionals, medical oncologists, nursing staff
and breast care nurses, for their generous support
of the research. Their continual assistance with
recruitment was greatly appreciated and vital to
the success of the research.
Finally, we would like to thank the ACT Cancer
Council who supported the research. We hope the
results of the research provide a better understanding
of patients’ experience of chemotherapy, one of the
most challenging medical treatments available. We
hope the results provide information of use to health
professionals and ensure all women diagnosed with
breast cancer in the future receive the best medical
and psychological support possible.
Project Title: Towards a cancer prevention
program for the ACT and SE NSW region. A
background paper and mapping exercise.
Grant Awarded: $19,243 (awarded in 2005–06)
Principal Investigator: Ms Nicole DruhanMcGinn
This project, commenced in the previous ﬁnancial
year, has been completed. The following is a
summary of the report’s recommendations which
will provide a framework for action within
The Cancer Council ACT:
Tobacco
1. Reduce initiation of tobacco use through
a range of strategies including legislation,
making cigarettes more expensive, educating
and informing, targeting youth within a broad
community based campaign.
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2. Support mass media advertising campaigns.

Ultraviolet Radiation

3. Reduce the demand for tobacco through taxation
that matches or exceeds increases in wages
(increase the “real” price of tobacco).

1. Support the efforts of the National Skin Cancer
Awareness Campaign (summer 2006–07) with
ACT speciﬁc media and education initiatives
aimed at the most vulnerable populations,
children and outdoor workers.

4. Continue to provide a variety of high quality
cessation services for those who wish to quit,
including quit telephone support and self help
educational materials.
5. Support programs and initiatives which involve
primary healthcare professionals providing
cessation support.
6. Continue to normalise smokefree environments.

2. Create supportive environments for sun
protection through promoting the provision of
shade and policies promoting sun protective
clothing in environments such as schools,
workplaces and recreation settings.
3. Improve early detection of melanomas through
education and supportive efforts aimed at the
general public and general practitioners.

Physical Activity
1. Create supportive environments for physical
activity by further developing active transport
options and safe, accessible public environments
for physical activity.
2. Promote physical activity for general health
beneﬁts.
3. Support community groups to enable people to
be physically active through improving access
to their services and providing programs for
underserved groups.

The Cancer Council ACT Annual Report 2006–07

4. Support educational policies, curriculum and
after school programming that encourages
activity.
5. Encourage workplaces to support employees to
be physically active.
6. Develop individually adapted behaviour change
programs with a GP or primary care practitioner
referral component in the ACT.
Nutrition
1. Improve monitoring and surveillance of dietary
practices in the ACT.
2. Increase the demand for fruit and vegetables by
supporting and complementing the “Go for 2
fruit & 5 veg” campaign.
3. Improve individual access to affordable fruits
and vegetables in the ACT and region.
4. Decrease the promotion of less healthy food
choices to children and availability of less
healthy foods in schools.
Obesity and Overweight
1. Improve monitoring and surveillance of weight
status of ACT adults and children.
2. Increase the impact of current ACT nutrition
and physical activity programs on obesity and
overweight, through better coordination of
programs in a more comprehensive approach
with reduced duplication of efforts.

26

Project Title: Carers of Cancer Patients: A
sociological understanding of their emotional
and support service experiences
Principal Investigator: Rebecca Olson, PhD
candidate, Australian National University
Ms Olson is conducting a study on carers of cancer
patients with the assistance of the Cancer Council
ACT. The purpose of the study is to develop an
improved understanding of the supportive service
needs of carers in the ACT and an improved
understanding of carers’ experiences from a
sociological perspective. The research thus far
has consisted of administering questionnaires
and interviewing spouses caring for a partner
with cancer.

ENABLING SERVICES/PROGRAMS

Fundraising and
Business Development Program

Ms Hope Steele,
Fundraising Manager

Ms Sarah Walsh,
Event Coordinator

2006–07 has been The Council’s most successful
fundraising year to date, raising $986,772 through
fundraising events and donations – an increase of
14% from 2005–06 ($864,966). The majority of
this income is a result of an increase in income
from The Council’s most recognised fundraising
events, Daffodil Day and Australia’s Biggest
Morning Tea, and a result of signiﬁcant ﬁnancial
growth in Pink Ribbon Day and Girls Night In.
October is now nationally recognised as “pink
month”, or breast cancer awareness month.
The Council’s Pink Ribbon Day and Girls Night
In, both held in October, have achieved major
ﬁnancial growth this year. Pink Ribbon Day
experienced an increase of 60% from the previous
year’s event, and Girls Night In raised $74,226 –
an increase of 179% this ﬁnancial year.
Community driven fundraising continues to
remain a steady income stream for The Council,
with rafﬂes, barbeques and participation in
head shaves generating vital income and raising
awareness of The Council and the services it
provides.

Daffodil Day
Daffodil Day was launched this year with a candle
lighting ceremony held on Monday 21st August
2006 at Federation Mall. Messages to honour and
remember loved ones were written on candle bags
and then arranged to spell the word “Hope” on
the lawns leading to Parliament House. Despite
the chilly Canberra evening, the ceremony saw
supporters join the reﬂection and the ceremony
was a moving tribute to those lost to cancer and
those currently battling the disease.

Ms Rebecca Goh, Fundraising
Administrative Assistant

This year’s income was generated through
individuals, businesses, schools and community
groups selling fresh daffodils and merchandise
throughout August. Over 200 volunteers
contributed by selling merchandise at shopping
centre sites throughout Canberra.

Pink Ribbon Day
Pink Ribbon Day achieved a 61% increase on
05/06 income (from $49,093 in 05/06 to $78,944
in 06/07) – with a record number of businesses
and shopping centre sites selling merchandise
this year. 196 businesses, schools and community
groups ordered merchandise this year – up 74
from the previous year.
The day was launched with a sell-out annual
Pink Ribbon Day breakfast, held at the National
Museum of Australia, with guest speaker Emeritus
Professor Miles Little, Department of Surgery at
University of Sydney speaking about “Patients and
Doctors - how to misunderstand one another”.
The breakfast was attended by 200 guests,
including ACT’s Pink Ribbon Day ofﬁcial mascot
Miss Chloe, a standard poodle with a pink ribbon
dyed into her ﬂank. The breakfast alone raised
over $5,000.

Daffodil Day experienced growth of 14% in
2006–07, raising a total of $154,649 (compared
with $135,651 in 2005–06), which indicates
Daffodil Day is still a well supported event within
the community, although trending down from its
peak income in 2002–03 ($214,387).
Daffodil Day’s success this year may also be
attributed to the development of a new creative
strategy on a national level which was aimed to
combat the event’s fatigue.

Miss Chloe – Pink Ribbon Day mascot
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Girls Night In
238 Canberra women hosted a Girls Night In this
year, an increase of over 27% from the previous
year. This resulted in an income of $74,226.05,
more than double the previous year. This is only a
new event and one clearly increasing in line with
expectation.

Relay For Life’s decline from $207,412 in 05/06 to
$177,612 in 06/07 is very disappointing – and while
the event is the highest income earner for The
Cancer Council ACT – we must urgently address the
reasons at to why, not only did the expected growth
not materialise, but the income declined. This is the
complete opposite of what has happened in all the
other Cancer Councils this year.

Girls Night In calls on women to register with The
Council and invite girlfriends over for dinner, a
movie night, or whatever suits. Hosts then ask
guests to donate the money they would have
normally spent on a night out on the town to
The Cancer Council ACT.
This year’s fantastic response was also a result
of the ofﬁcial Girls Night In launch. Over 265
people attended a sell-out, early screening of the
movie “The Devil Wears Prada” in support of Girls
Night In. The night was a great opportunity to get
together with the girls, and attendees went home
with a “goodie bag” including more information
about how to host a Girls Night In.

Relay For Life
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On 29th and 30th March 2007, 72 teams (over
1300 people) took to the track at the Australian
Institute of Sport to participate in Relay For Life.
Relay For Life brings together people from all
walks of life, including the public and private
sectors, school and community groups, sporting
clubs and long time friends.
The event is an opportunity for team building and
getting back to basics, with groups camping and
walking the AIS track for 24 hours to raise money
for The Cancer Council ACT.
To keep teams motivated and awake throughout
the night, the event is ﬁlled with 24-hours of
entertainment including bands, dance, karate
& yoga.
This year’s traditional candle lighting ceremony
was a moving tribute, honouring those who have
died from cancer, and acknowledging those who
are currently living with cancer. The ceremony
saw hundreds of candle bags line the track with
participants taking a moment to reﬂect and
understand why they had chosen to participate
in Relay For Life.

This year’s highest RFL fund raising team, Bold Bandannas
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Sarah Walsh, Event Coordinator, Australia’s Biggest Morning Tea,
Brindabella Park

Australia’s Biggest Morning Tea
Australia’s Biggest Morning Tea grew 20% this
ﬁnancial year, with 847 hosts raising $168,595
(up from $140,323 in 05/06) throughout May.
Australia’s Biggest Morning Tea is The Council’s
second largest fundraising event and has
maintained steady growth since its inception
in 1994.
105 new hosts registered this year from a variety
of sectors including public and private businesses,
schools, households and community groups.
This year’s event was launched at Brindabella
Business Park and was attended by over 50
people, including past hosts, cancer survivors and
representatives of the business community. Cancer
survivor, Patsy Shields spoke of her experience with
cancer and how important The Council’s work is in
the local community. Canberra’s highest individual
fundraiser was local IT business, Dataﬂex, which
raised over $7,000.

Canada Fun Run For Cancer
(formerly the Terry Fox Fun Run)
During the year the International Terry Fox
Foundation enforced its rules with many of the
bodies all around the world which are authorised
to run Terry Fox Runs. Complying completely
with these rules was not thought to be possible
locally at this time, so the Canberra authority and
many others across the world have currently been
withdrawn. We were extremely fortunate that the
Canadian High Commission, which contributes
so much to the success of this event, agreed to
continue with a similar event under the name of
Canada Fun Run For Cancer.

We are not able to report on the total funds raised
for ABMT and the (former) Terry Fox Run in any
one year’s Annual Report because the events are
held late in the ﬁnancial year and some funds
for both events are received in the following
ﬁnancial year.

Bequests

Below please ﬁnd the total amounts raised for
each of these events run in the years 2003–04,
2004–05 and 2005–06

The Council’s Will booklet Your will could help
reduce the incidence and impact of cancer in the
ACT, outlines the importance of leaving a will
and contains the suggested wording to use when
leaving a bequest to The Cancer Council ACT.
Supporters who choose to include The Council in
their will are invited to join The Heritage Circle,
which honours those who have made a bequest to
The Council. Copies of the booklet are available
from The Council ofﬁce.

Funds Raised
ABMT

2005–06

2004–05

2003–04

$145,948

$125,229

$126,872

$35,487

$25,953

$27,922

Terry Fox Run

The Cancer Council ACT is most grateful to have
received bequests this year from the estates of the
late: Mrs Tommasa Salza, Mr Jeffrey Anderson,
Mrs Elizabeth Eyles and Mrs May Chatwin.

Additional Fundraising Events
($104,194)

We are grateful to the honorary solicitors who
have agreed to participate in the bequest program.
Their ongoing support is greatly appreciated.

• The British High Commission Spring Ball
• Christmas card sales

The Council has worked with ACT funeral houses
again this year in accepting donations at funerals,
at the request of families. The Council provides
funeral houses with ‘in memoriam’ envelopes
and will booklets (as required). We appreciate
the support received from the funeral directors
through this ongoing relationship.

• The Doug Russell Memorial Golf Day
• Me No Hair (sponsored individuals in the
community who shave their head)
• Canada Fun Run For Cancer (held in
conjunction with The Canadian High
Commission)
• Community fundraising (individuals and
groups fundraising and donating money
raised to The Council, eg. Art Exhibition,
Musical Concerts)

Fundraising Income 2006–07
14%

16%

• Entertainment Book Sales
8%

11%

3%
8%
3%
3%

17%
17%

Daffodil Day
Pink Ribbon Day
Girls Night In
Doug Russell
Golf Day
Relay for Life
Australia’s Biggest
Morning Tea
Canada Fun Run
for Cancer
Me No Hair
Other
Donations

Ms Dianne Moir,
Donor Liaison Ofﬁcer

DONOR DEVELOPMENT
AND BEQUEST PROGRAM
The donor development program is in its ﬁfth year
and since its implementation has seen an overall
increase in response to appeals and donations.
Donations from this source raised $134,363 for
The Cancer Council ACT this ﬁnancial year. We
thank members of The Council who have shared
their cancer journey with our supporters.
Workplace Giving continues to be an area of
potential income growth. The Council’s aim is to
continue to develop these programs throughout
the 2007–08 ﬁnancial year.
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2006–07 EVENT SPONSORS

Rolfe Mazda Doug Russell Memorial
Golf Day 2006

State Sponsors

Slaven Mazda
Ecowise
Royal Canberra Golf Club
St George
Video Duplication & Conversion Services
Paciﬁc Datacom
APIS

Australian Air Express
Canberra Milk
Southern Cross Ten

Daffodil Day 2006
Australian Air Express
Canberra Milk
Southern Cross Ten
Supabarn
Coles Cares
ANZ
Millers
Betts
Rockmans
Flight Centre
Quix
Cartridge World
Medicare Australia
Zamels
Vivien’s
Espresso Mobile Cafe
Blue Sky Singers
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Pink Ribbon Day 2006
Australian Air Express
Canberra Milk
Southern Cross Ten
Amcal
Best and Less
Jeanswest
Medicare Australia
Cross Roads
1626
Rockmans
Sass and Bide
De Lorenzo
New Idea
Ginninderry Homestead
Key Pharmaceuticals
Elegance Beauty Salon
Art Atelier
Louise Beavan and Miss Chloe
Nivea
Revlon
Wrigley

Girls Night In 2006
Australian Air Express
Canberra Milk
Southern Cross Ten
Nader’s Priceline
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Relay for Life 2007
Australian Institute of Sport
Canberra Coffee Company
Canberra Milk
Espresso Mobile Café
Fyshwick Fresh Food Markets
McDonalds Belconnen
Mike’s Meats
Moguls Indian
Neverfail Water
Outdoor Oven
Pace Farm Eggs
Quota Club of Canberra
Rotary Club of Belconnen
SES Gungahlin
Tip Top Bakeries
Audio Solutions
Cancer Council Volunteers
Capital Trophies Mitchell
Department of Defence
Radio Rentals Fyshwick
Rev. Gordon Ramsey
Skin Health
St John Ambulance
CIT - Massage
Club Lime
Daramalan College Band
Desperado’s
Function First Gungahlin - Massage
GKR Karate
KoKo Loco Latino Dancing
Monaro Colonial Dancers
Next of Kin
Queanbeyan Pipe Band
Warehouse Circus
Peter Alexander
Questacon

Australia’s Biggest Morning Tea 2007
Australian Air Express
Canberra Milk
Southern Cross Ten
Canberra Airport Group
Wedgwood
Mufﬁn Break
Bodum
Patsy Shields

Canada Fun Run For Cancer 2007

British High Commission Ball 2006

Can-Weld Contracting Pty Ltd
Bombardier Transportation
GHD
Executive Rentals
Morgans Carpet Cleaning
Kent Moving & Storage
Manteena
Applied Services
Canadian High Commission
Australian/Canadian Association
ActewAGL
ACT Athletics
ACT Veterans Athletics
Campbells Cash & Carry
Canberra Trophy Centre
Can-Weld Contracting Pty Ltd
Coates Prestige Portables
Corporate Express
Defence Aid to the Civil Community
Deneefe Signs
Fyshwick Fresh Food Markets
Kell & Rigby Builders
Kent Moving & Storage
Manassen Foods
National Foods
Sing Australia Choirs
Sita Environmental Solutions
Stewart Barlen Hire
St John Ambulance
The Canberra Times
The Pancake Parlour Restaurant
The Runners Shop

Anthony Agostino
Hot Shots
Wily Trout Wine
Cosmo Hair & Beauty
Shangri-La Hotel – Sydney
John Simpson
David Jones
Crisp Galleries
Waterford/Wedgwood
Wayoutback 4WD Safaris
Intercontinental Hotel – Sydney
Australian Air Express
Isla Patterson
Sydney Harbour Bridge Climb
Jan Weir
Sydney Harbour Marriott Hotel, Sydney
Johnnie Walker Gold Label
Fancy That Confectionery
Addicted to Fabric
Posh Pots Garden Detail
Beauty on the Go
National Gallery of Australia
Cadbury Schweppes
Poacher’s Pantry
National Museum of Australia
Jim Murphy’s Market Cellars
Thank you to our sponsors, participants,
supporters and volunteers who have so
generously supported our fundraising events
and appeals throughout 2006–2007. We would
not be able to achieve these results without your
continued support.

Afternoon tea to thank sponsors, held at Government House. Mrs Lucy Cripps, Her Excellency Mrs Marlena Jeffery
(Patron of The Cancer Council ACT) and Mrs Alice Mason
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Other Activities During 2006–07

Following is a list of some of the other activities
The Cancer Council ACT staff and Board were
involved in during 2006–07.

The Cancer Council ACT Annual Report 2006–07

Membership of ACT Committees/Groups
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ACT and SE NSW Breast Cancer Treatment Group
ACT and SE Region Framework Implementation
Group
ACT Cervical Screening Program Advisory
Committee
ACT Cervical Cytology Register Management
Committee
ACT Health Smokefree Consultative Group
ACT Schools Canteen Coalition
ACT Tobacco Taskforce
Australian Health Promotion Association – ACT
Branch
Breast and Cervical Screening Programs
Community Reference Group
BreastScreen Advisory Committee
Fruit and Vegetable Coalition
Nutrition Advisory Group Supportive
Environments for Physical Activity
Tuckatalk in Schools

Membership of The Cancer Council
Australia Committees/Groups
Australia’s Biggest Morning Tea Sub Committee
Bowel Cancer Screening Committee
Business Development Committee
Cancer Council Helpline Network
Chief Executive Ofﬁcers’ Forum
Chief Financial Managers’ Meeting
General Practice Sub Committee
Media Managers’ Network
National Events Sub Committee
National Schools’ Working Group
National Skin Cancer Steering Committee
Nutrition and Physical Activity Committee
Peer Support Network
Pink Ribbon Day Sub Committee
Retail Managers’ Committee
Supportive Care Committee
Tobacco Issues Committee

Membership of other National
Committees/Groups
Australian Network on Young People and
Tobacco (ANYPAT)
Australian Prostate Cancer Collaboration (APCC)
Education Committee
Health Warnings Steering Committee
Parents’ Jury
Quit Coordinators’ Group
Quitline Managers’ Group

Attendance at Conferences
Clinical Oncological Society of Australia Conference,
Melbourne

Financial Membership of
Other Organisations
Australian Health Promotion Association
APPC – Australian Prostate Cancer Collaboration
Asian and Paciﬁc Federation of Organisations
for Cancer Research and Control
AUSAE – Australian Society of Association
Executives
Carers ACT
International Non-Governmental Coalition
Against Cancer
International Union for Health Promotion
and Education
Public Health Association of Australia
SHOUT
The Cancer Council Australia
UICC – International Union against Cancer
Volunteering ACT
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Organisation Chart

Staff and Volunteers

2006–07 Staff
Executive Ofﬁcer

f/t from 8/2/07)

Joan Bartlett

YSPP Advisor
Nicole Druhan McGinn*

Client Services
Manager, Tobacco Control Services
Bronwyn Burr
SunSmart Services Coordinator
David Wild*
(from 31/8/06)
Health Promotion Ofﬁcer (joint position with
Diabetes Australia – ACT)
Laura Sutherland*
(to 16/3/07)
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Cancer Information Consultant
Kate Aigner
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Supportive Care Coordinator
David Wild (to 30/8/06)
Tamara Shanley* p/t (from 21/11/06 to 7/2/07)
Jane Beaumont
(from 6/2/07)
Cancer Support Group Leader/Pink Links
Alison Meritini*
Breast Cancer Support Group Facilitator
Amanda Lucas*
Carers’ Group
Liz Done*
Kidscan Coordinator
Vikki Fox* (to 9/2/07)

Major Projects
ACT Youth Smoking Prevention Project Manager
Tamara Shanley (from 10/8/06, p/t from 21/11/06
to 7/2/07,

Fundraising and Business Development
Senior Event Coordinator
Hope Steele
(to 7/12/06)
Fundraising Manager
Hope Steele
(from 8/12/06)
Event Coordinator
Sarah Walsh
Fundraising Administrative Assistant
Rebecca Goh
(from 13/3/07)
Donor Liaison Ofﬁcer
Dianne Moir*

Corporate Services and Administration
Manager of Corporate Services
Glen Bortolin
(to 23/3/07)
Joanne Grant
(from 16/4/07)
Finance Assistant
Catherine Leaudais (from 30/8/06)
Shop Manager and Ofﬁce Coordinator
James Priest
(to 10/11/06)
Collin Finnigan
(from 27/11/06)

Casuals
Rebecca Olson
Toni Rolfe
Debra Bowles
Jennifer Bowles
Wendy Shanley
* Contract or Casual staff

2006–07
VOLUNTEERS
Wig Service
Irene Bentley
Jackie Burnett
Joan Crook
Nola Daley
Anne Dickens
Maria Falez
Susan Golem
Julia Holden
Eileen Jones
Joanne Jones
Robyn McAllister
Mary McDermott
June McDonald
Anne McKernan
Perrie Morris
Linley Slinn
Bridget Smits
Mary Sutherland
Ruth Winstanley

Peer Assistance
Volunteers
Lenore Cupitt
Christine Fraser
Judy Harders
Peter Judd
Valerie Lee
Robyn McAllister
June McDonald
John Ryan

Quit Pack
Preparation
Lucy Cripps

Daffodil Day 2006
Michael Adams
Greta Adams
Annabel Agafonoff
Helen Armstrong
Rosemary Baehnisch
James Ball
Kerrie Basman
Judy Bates
Kay Beaver
Gillian Bellas
Gwen Bendun
Debra Bowles
Barbara Bradﬁeld
Amanda Bradley
Agnes Brown
Therese Bulley
Jacqui Burke, MLA
Jacqueline Burnett
Nicole Busby
Krystal Byrnes
Joy Byron
Tom Byron
Jane Cartledge
June Ceretti

Jing-Ting Chan
Felicity Chivas
Glenda Claridge
Barbara Clark
Janet Cole
Talie Cole
Win Collins
Lynne Combe
Kate Couvee
Fiona Crain
Lucy Cripps
Marge Culkin
Clint Deverson
Wendy Dodd
Ian Dodd
Maria Domitrak
Peter Dunnett
Jan Dunnett
Shirley Egan
Sandra Ellson
Ivana Faden
Shaun Fisher
Joy Fowler
Christine Fraser
Ilona Fraser
Chris Freemantle
Helen Fyfe
John Garner
Yvonne Gentry
Crystal George
Daria Gil
Deanne Glanville
Phoebe Gordon
Kelly Gourlay
Margaret Goyne
Elaine Graham
Bev Greenwood
Fiona Guy
C V Hackett
Tim Hardy
Julie Harvey
Max Hayes
Daphne Hillery
Andrew Hirst
Tamsin Hnatiuk
Jean Hodgson
Emma Hodis
Peta Hoff
Rhett Holmes
Grace Holroyd
Scott Hornby
Robin Houston
Peta Hudson
Bill Huff-Johnston
Rosemary HuffJohnston
Peter Hyde
Kate Ives
Sue Jackson
Elaine Jackson
Leonie Jenvey
Bruce Johnson
Edith Jones
Eloise Kelley
Therese Kelly

Eleanor Kennealy
Clare Knox
Julie Koesmarno
Helen Kosmas
Daya Kumarage
Olive Lambie
Sarah Landford
Gay Lane
John Langdon
Vin Liston
Jane Lockhart
Pat Macarthur
Barbara Mackay
Jodie Maher
Eve Mailath
Alexandra Martyniak
Alice Mason
Julie Matthews
Ellen Matthews
Margaret McDermid
Kate McDonald
Brenda McFarlane
Michelle McGloin
Bell McKaskill
Judy McKee
Leonie McKeown
Celia McKew
Beverley McLeod
Iris McMenamin
Felicity McNamara
Carol Middleton
Marline Milner
Anita Miragaya
Doreen Mitchell
Pauline Moat
Helen Mobbs
Pat Mooney
Irene Mooney
Pearl Moyseyenko
Louise Muir
Trish Murphy
Sandra Nelson
Yin Ng
Keran Niquet
Glenys Niquet
Anne Nolan
Colleen North
Gwynne O’Heir
Luisa Ovari
Annie Pabst
Rosemary Parker
Helen Peck
Maria Pintos
Helen Pitt
Catherine Pitt
Marli Popple
Dave Primmer
Valerie Pritchard
Misty Purdy
Lesley Purdy
Marg Quodling
Molly Rand
Mary Rees
Kate Reid
Julie Renton
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Mary Reynolds
Annette Rice
Jade Rice
Gary Richardson
Margaret Richardson
Arthur Riley
Michele Roberts
Richard Roe
Janette Roe
Carley Rothnie
Audrey Rough
Natalie Rule
Jane Schwinghamer
Angela Sharma
Isobel Shearman
Bronwyn Sheppard
Derek Smith
Elizabeth Smith
Heather Smith
Vanessa Smith
Kathleen Smith
Franca Solari
Pam Stagg
Bill Stefaniak
Nadine Stephen
Denise Stephens
Lisa Stewart
Jim Stubbs
Sydna Stubbs
Grace Sugden
Anne Sunderland
Bronwyn Swasbrick
Philippa Swayn
Douglas Taupin
Barbara Taylor
Judy Taylor
Robert Thornton
Fred Thorpe
Iris Thorpe
Soucila Tompsett
Hue Truong
Lorna Vaessen
Margaret Vidler
Joanne Vo
Mary Wahren
Jill Walker
Carol Walsh
David Ward
Carol Ward
Amy Wauchop
Paulina Welbourne
Janet Wendorf
Gerard Whelan
Helen Whelan
Julia Wilkinson
Nancy Williams
Lyn Willson
Judith Wimborne
Jo Woods
Phillip Woodward
Marilyn Woodward

Jess Wurf
Angela Yorston

Pink Ribbon Day
2006
Michael Adams
Greta Adams
Helen Armstrong
James Ball
Louise Beavan
Nadia Bottari
Debra Bowles
Amanda Bradley
Agnes Brown
Therese Bulley
Jacqui Burke, MLA
Nicole Busby
Joy Byron
Tom Byron
Jane Cartledge
Des Cavanagh
Jing-Ting Chan
Margaret Chaytow
Barbara Clark
Janet Cole
Win Collins
Barbara Court
Kate Couvee
Fiona Crain
Lucy Cripps
Kerry Davis
Sandra Doidge
Peter Dunnett
Jan Dunnett
Ruby Dutta
Heather Peacock
Norman Easton
Renee Farnham
Sarah Ferguson
Barbara Finn
Jane Fisk
Christine Fraser
Chris Freemantle
Karyn Gentleman
Daria Gil
Deanne Glanville
Margaret Goyne
Elaine Graham
Lyn Gray
Virginia Gray
Julie Harvey
Max Hayes
Caithe Hodges
Jean Hodgson
Grace Holroyd
Robin Houston
Peta Hudson
Brenton Hutchinson
Mimi Ivancic
Kate Ives
Sue Jackson
Elaine Jackson
Bruce Johnson
Katherine Keenan

Therese Kelly
Eleanor Kennealy
Kim King
Jill Kingston
Michelle Kirby
Debbie Knight
Helen Kosmas
Daya Kumarage
Kat Lemic
Jan Livingstone
Barbara Mackay
Eve Mailath
Julie Matthews
Ellen Matthews
Joyce McGuire
Judy McKee
Melissa McKenna
James McKenna
Felicity McNamara
Bridgett McQuillan
Laura Miller
Marline Milner
Doreen Mitchell
Pauline Moat
Pat Mooney
Sandra Nelson
Mary Nicholls
Colleen North
Jane Outteridge
Rosemary Parker
Helen Peck
Anne-Louise Pham
Helen Pitt
Catherine Pitt
Molly Rand
Mary Rees
Julie Renton
Annette Rice
Jade Rice
Gary Richardson
Margaret Richardson
Audrey Rough
Lynne Sandland
Karlie Scott
Isobel Shearman
Elizabeth Smith
Heather Smith
Rebecca Smith
Franca Solari
Aaron Spencer
Denise Stephens
Grace Sugden
Barbara Taylor
Fred Thorpe
Iris Thorpe
Lorna Vaessen
Margaret Vidler
Jill Walker
Carol Walsh
David Ward
Carol Ward

Members of the Board of Directors
who served The Cancer Council ACT
during 2006–07

Ms Christine Brill,
Vice President

Ms Mary Martin,
Honorary Secretary

Paulina Welbourne
Helen Whelan
Gerard Whelan
Jean Widdowson
Julie Wilson
Judith Wimborne
Jo Woods
Marilyn Woodward
Phillip Woodward
Wee-Sian Woon
Michael Wright

Relay For Life 2007

Dr Carolyn Cho,
Board Member

Ms Sue Hart,
Board Member

Christine Fraser
Julie Koesmarno
Joyce McGuire
Tim Hardy
Selina Langford
John Bently
Laurel Watt
Misty Purdy
Lesley Purdy
Micha Purdy

Charity Christmas Card
Shop 2006

Mr Brian Loftus,
Board Member

Ms Gillian Mitchell,
Board Member

Mr David Nolan,
Board Member

Dr Doug Taupin,
Board Member

Annabel Agafonoff
Rosemary Baehnisch
Elizabeth Brooomﬁled
Jacqueline Burnett
Jane Cartledge
Barbara Finn
Deanne Glanville
Ces Hill
Doone Jolley
Eleanor Kennealy
Margaret Langford
Selina Langford
Jan Livingstone
Eve Mailath
Brenda McFarlane
Judy McKee
Marline Milner
Pauline Moat
Trish Murphy
Rebecca Neeson
Denise Page
Molly Rand
Mary Reynolds
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Ottawa Charter

Lynne Sandland
Jim Stubbs
Sydna Stubbs
Lorna Vaessen
Margaret Vidler
David Ward
Carol Ward
Alan Williams
Judith Wimborne
Angela Yorston

Dr Kevin White
President
Ms Christine Brill
Vice President
Mr David Sly
Treasurer
Ms Mary Martin
Honorary Secretary
Dr Carolyn Cho
Ms Sue Hart
Mr Brian Loftus
Ms Gillian Mitchell
Mr David Nolan
Dr Doug Taupin

Committee Membership
as at 30 June 2007
The Cancer Council ACT Annual Report 2006–07

Audit Committee
Ms Christine Brill (Chairperson)
All current Board Members of
The Cancer Council ACT
Ms Joan Bartlett

Research Grant Committee
Dr Kevin White (Chairperson)
Ms Kate Aigner
Ms Joan Bartlett
Ms Christine Brill
Ms Mary Martin
Mr David Sly
Mr Doug Taupin

Honorary Life Members
Mrs R. Grantham
Mrs Heather Wain
Professor Malcolm Whyte
Professor John Williams

Patron of The Cancer Council ACT
Her Excellency Mrs Marlena Jeffery
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The Council’s activities are underpinned by the
guiding principles of health promotion, including
the Ottawa Charter.

• equity.
Improvement in health requires a secure
foundation in these basic prerequisites.

Ottawa Charter
Advocate
1st International Conference on
Health Promotion
(Ottawa, Canada, November 1986)
The ﬁrst International Conference on Health
Promotion, meeting in Ottawa this 21st day of
November 1986, hereby presents this CHARTER for
action to achieve Health for All by the year 2000 and
beyond. This conference was primarily a response
to growing expectations for a new public health
movement around the world. Discussions focused on
the needs in industrialized countries, but took into
account similar concerns in all other regions. It built
on the progress made through the Declaration on
Primary Health Care at Alma-Ata, the World Health
Organization’s Targets for Health for All document,
and the recent debate at the World Health Assembly
on intersectoral action for health.

Health Promotion
Health promotion is the process of enabling
people to increase control over, and to improve,
their health. To reach a state of complete physical,
mental and social well-being, an individual or
group must be able to identify and to realize
aspirations, to satisfy needs, and to change or cope
with the environment. Health is, therefore, seen
as a resource for everyday life, not the objective of
living. Health is a positive concept emphasising
social and personal resources, as well as physical
capacities. Therefore, health promotion is not just
the responsibility of the health sector, but goes
beyond healthy life-styles to well-being.

Prerequisites for Health
The fundamental conditions and resources for
health are:
• peace,
• shelter,
• education,
• food,

Good health is a major resource for social,
economic and personal development and an
important dimension of quality of life. Political,
economic, social, cultural, environmental,
behavioural and biological factors can all favour
health or be harmful to it. Health promotion
action aims at making these conditions favourable
through advocacy for health.

Enable
Health promotion focuses on achieving equity in
health. Health promotion action aims at reducing
differences in current health status and ensuring
equal opportunities and resources to enable all
people to achieve their fullest health potential.
This includes a secure foundation in a supportive
environment, access to information, life skills and
opportunities for making healthy choices. People
cannot achieve their fullest health potential unless
they are able to take control of those things which
determine their health. This must apply equally to
women and men.

Mediate
The prerequisites and prospects for health
cannot be ensured by the health sector alone.
More importantly, health promotion demands
coordinated action by all concerned: by
governments, by health and other social and
economic sectors, by nongovernmental and
voluntary organisation, by local authorities, by
industry and by the media. People in all walks
of life are involved as individuals, families and
communities. Professional and social groups and
health personnel have a major responsibility to
mediate between differing interests in society for
the pursuit of health.
Health promotion strategies and programmes
should be adapted to the local needs and
possibilities of individual countries and regions
to take into account differing social, cultural and
economic systems.

• income,
• a stable eco-system,
• sustainable resources,
• social justice, and
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Health Promotion action means:
Build healthy public policy
Health promotion goes beyond health care.
It puts health on the agenda of policy makers
in all sectors and at all levels, directing them
to be aware of the health consequences of their
decisions and to accept their responsibilities
for health.
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Health promotion policy combines diverse but
complementary approaches including legislation,
ﬁscal measures, taxation and organisational
change. It is coordinated action that leads to
health, income and social policies that foster
greater equity. Joint action contributes to
ensuring safer and healthier goods and services,
healthier public services, and cleaner, more
enjoyable environments.
Health promotion policy requires the
identiﬁcation of obstacles to the adoption of
healthy public policies in non-health sectors,
and ways of removing them. The aim must be
to make the healthier choice the easier choice
for policy makers as well.

Create supportive environments
Our societies are complex and interrelated.
Health cannot be separated from other goals.
The inextricable links between people and
their environment constitutes the basis for
a socio-ecological approach to health. The
overall guiding principle for the world, nations,
regions and communities alike, is the need to
encourage reciprocal maintenance – to take
care of each other, our communities and our
natural environment. The conservation of
natural resources throughout the world should be
emphasized as a global responsibility.
Changing patterns of life, work and leisure have
a signiﬁcant impact on health. Work and leisure
should be a source of health for people. The
way society organises work should help create a
healthy society. Health promotion generates living
and working conditions that are safe, stimulating,
satisfying and enjoyable.
Systematic assessment of the health impact of a
rapidly changing environment – particularly in
areas of technology, work, energy production and
urbanisation – is essential and must be followed
by action to ensure positive beneﬁt to the health
of the public.
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The protection of the natural and built
environments and the conservation of natural
resources must be addressed in any health
promotion strategy.

Strengthen community action
Health promotion works through concrete and
effective community action in setting priorities,
making decisions, planning strategies and
implementing them to achieve better health.
At the heart of this process is the empowerment
of communities – their ownership and control
of their own endeavours and destinies.
Community development draws on existing
human and material resources in the community
to enhance self-help and social support, and to
develop ﬂexible systems for strengthening public
participation in and direction of health matters.
This requires full and continuous access to
information, learning opportunities for health,
as well as funding support.

Develop personal skills
Health promotion supports personal and social
development through providing information,
education for health, and enhancing life skills.
By so doing, it increases the options available to
people to exercise more control over their own
health and over their environments, and to make
choices conducive to health.
Enabling people to learn, throughout life, to
prepare themselves for all of its stages and to
cope with chronic illness and injuries is essential.
This has to be facilitated in school, home, work
and community settings. Action is required
through educational, professional, commercial
and voluntary bodies, and within the institutions
themselves.

Reorient health services
The responsibility for health promotion in health
services is shared among individuals, community
groups, health professionals, health service
institutions and governments. They must work
together towards a health care system which
contributes to the pursuit of health.
The role of the health sector must move
increasingly in a health promotion direction,
beyond its responsibility for providing clinical
and curative services. Health services need
to embrace an expanded mandate which is
sensitive and respects cultural needs. This

Financial Report

mandate should support the needs of individuals
and communities for a healthier life, and
open channels between the health sector and
broader social, political, economic and physical
environmental components.
Reorienting health services also requires stronger
attention to health research as well as changes in
professional education and training. This must
lead to a change of attitude and organisation of
health services which refocuses on the total needs
of the individual as a whole person.

Moving into the future
Health is created and lived by people within
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THE CANCER COUNCIL ACT LIMITED
ABN: 33 113 296 601
INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007
Notes
REVENUE
Operating activities:
Shop sales
Grants
Membership fees
Training and education fees
Donations
Bequests
Special events
Other products and services

3

Non-operating activities:
Interest
Royalties
Gain on disposal of non current assets
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Total revenue
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EXPENSES
Employee benefits
Shop merchandise
Events costs
Research grants
Occupancy costs
General costs
Write down and impairment of assets
Project costs
Cancer Council Australia membership
Total expenses
Net surplus / (deficit) from ordinary activities

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

2

2

2

2007
$

2006
$

163,768
387,152
1,183
18,312
134,363
5,109
847,300
1,839
1,559,026

109,409
229,709
1,255
8,020
141,747
250
722,968
40,689
1,254,047

45,822
11,858
1,928
59,608
1,618,634

26,728
31,614
58,342
1,312,389

(751,278)
(82,329)
(115,657)
(30,624)
(50,596)
(354,199)
(54,638)
(62,424)
(1,501,745)

(552,707)
(87,260)
(85,582)
(56,247)
(44,995)
(286,596)
(56,531)
(48,916)
(27,627)
(1,246,461)

116,889

65,928

THE CANCER COUNCIL ACT LIMITED
ABN: 33 113 296 601
BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 30 JUNE 2007
Notes

2007
$

2006
$

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Inventories
Other financial assets
Other
Total current assets

5
6
7
8
9

924,743
23,755
52,125
13,342
12,502
1,026,467

838,628
13,006
49,772
12,465
10,848
924,719

NON CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Total non current assets

10

68,528
68,528

91,682
91,682

1,094,995

1,016,401

Total assets
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables
Unearned revenue
Total current liabilities

11
12

107,289
46,070
153,359

118,742
72,141
190,883

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions
Lease incentives
Total non current liabilities

13
14

12,113
8,333
20,446

1,433
20,000
21,433

Total liabilities

173,805

212,316

Net assets

921,190

804,085

EQUITY
Reserves
Retained earnings
Total equity

216
920,974
921,190

804,085
804,085

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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THE CANCER COUNCIL ACT LIMITED
ABN: 33 113 296 601
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Balance at 1 July 2005
Net surplus for the year
Balance at 1 July 2006
Revaluation increment
Net surplus for the year
Balance at 30 June 2007

The Cancer Council ACT Annual Report 2006–07

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Retained
earnings

Financial
assets reserve

$

$

738,157
65,928
804,085
116,889
920,974

216
216

Total

$
738,157
65,928
804,085
216
116,889
921,190

THE CANCER COUNCIL ACT LIMITED
ABN: 33 113 296 601
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007
Notes
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from donations, special events and all other income
Receipts from sale of merchandise
Grants received
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest received
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

19(a)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Payments for investments in other financial assets
Proceeds on disposal of other financial assets
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Net movement in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

5

2007
$

2006
$

1,024,683
180,145
397,189
(1,526,342)
39,583
115,258

956,228
120,350
347,358
(1,166,428)
26,728
284,236

(29,143)
(29,143)

(7,148)
(11,195)
10,612
(7,731)

86,115

276,505

838,628

562,123

924,743

838,628

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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THE CANCER COUNCIL ACT LIMITED
ABN: 33 113 296 601
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007
Note 1: Statement of significant accounting policies
The financial report covers The Cancer Council ACT Limited ("the Company") as an individual entity. The Cancer
Council ACT Limited is a company limited by guarantee incorporated and domiciled in Australia.
The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the Company in the preparation of the
financial report. The accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of Preparation
This general purpose financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance
with Accounting Standards and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board
and the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. The financial report has been prepared on the basis of
historical cost and, except where stated, does not take into account changing money values or current values of
non-current assets. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. The
financial report is presented in Australian dollars.
The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). A statement of compliance with International Financial
Reporting Standards cannot be made due to the company applying the not-for-profit sector specific requirements
contained in the AIFRS.
Any new Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective at balance date have not been
applied in the preparation of this financial report. The possible impacts of the initial application of these
Accounting Standards have not been assessed.
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The accounting policies set out below have been consistently applied to all years presented.
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Reporting Basis and Conventions
The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs.
(a) Income tax
The Company is income tax exempt as a public benevolent institution under sub-division 30-B of the Income Tax
Assessment Act 1997 .
(b) Inventories
Shop and wig merchandise are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned on a
first-in first-out basis.

THE CANCER COUNCIL ACT LIMITED
ABN: 33 113 296 601
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007
Note 1: Statement of significant accounting policies (cont'd)
(c) Financial Instruments
Recognition
Financial instruments are initially measured at cost on trade date, which includes transaction costs, when the
related contractual rights or obligations exist. Subsequent to initial recognition these instruments are measured
as set out below.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market and are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Held-to-maturity investments
These investments have fixed maturities, and it is the Company’s intention to hold these investments to maturity.
Any held-to-maturity investments held by the Company are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method.
Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets include any financial assets not included in the above categories. Available-forsale financial assets are reflected at fair value. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are
taken directly to equity.
Financial liabilities
Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, comprising original debt less principal
payments and amortisation.
(d) Property, plant and equipment
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less, where applicable, any accumulated
depreciation or impairment write-offs. The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is reviewed annually
by the Company to ensure it is not in excess of the remaining service potential of these assets. All classes of
property, plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight line or diminishing balance methods.
Depreciation is charged at the following rates:
Furniture, plant and equipment
Motor vehicles
Building improvements

2.5% - 37.5% straight line or 11.25% - 37.5% diminishing
balance
22.5% diminishing balance
20% - 33% straight line

(e) Employee benefits
Provision is made for the Company’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees
to balance date. Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within one year have been measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled, plus related on costs. Employee benefits payable later
than one year have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for
those benefits.
Contributions are made by the Company to employees’ superannuation funds and are charged as expenses
when incurred.
(f) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held at call with banks or financial institutions.
(g) Research grants
Research grants are recognised as expenses at the time the funds are disbursed to the research body.
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THE CANCER COUNCIL ACT LIMITED
ABN: 33 113 296 601
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1: Statement of significant accounting policies (cont'd)
(h) Revenue recognition
Goods and services
Revenue from the sale of merchandise is recognised upon delivery of the goods to customers. Revenue from the
rendering of a service is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the customers.
Donations, bequests and membership fees
Donations, bequests and membership fees are recognised as revenue when received.
Grants
Operational grants are recognised as revenue on receipt or entitlement to receive except for operational grants
received in respect of future financial years which are recognised as income received in advance (liabilities,
unearned revenue). Project grants are recognised as revenue to the extent that the monies have been applied in
accordance with the conditions of the grant. Project grants received prior to the year end but unexpended as at
that date are recognised as unexpended project grants (liabilities, unearned revenue).
Fundraising events
Revenue and costs from fundraising events is recognised as revenue and expense on completion of the event.
Income received and expenses incurred prior to event are recognised as income in advance (liabilities, unearned
revenue) and prepayments (other current assets) respectively.
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Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a proportional basis taking into account the interest rates applicable to the
financial assets.
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Dividend and royalty income
Dividend and royalty income is recognised when received.
(i) Goods and Services Tax
All revenue and expenses are stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).
(j) Impairment
At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to
the asset's carrying value. As a not-for-profit entity, value in use for the Company, according to AASB 136
Impairment of Assets , is depreciated replacement cost. Any excess of the asset's carrying value over its
recoverable amount is expensed to the income statement.
(k) Critical accounting judgement and estimates
The directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial report based on historical
knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events
and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the Company.
Key Estimates - Impairment
The Company assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Company that
may lead to impairment of assets. Should an impairment indicator exist, the determination of the recoverable
amount of the asset may require incorporation of a number of key estimates. No impairment indicators were
present at 30 June 2007.

THE CANCER COUNCIL ACT LIMITED
ABN: 33 113 296 601
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1: Statement of significant accounting policies (cont'd)
(l) Leases
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risk and benefits incidental to the ownership of
the asset remain with the lessor, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.
Lease incentives
In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into non-cancellable operating leases, such incentives are
recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight line basis over the lease term. Lease payments are allocated
between rental expense, reduction of the liability and, where appropriate, interest expense over the term of the
lease.
(m) Comparative information
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in this
financial report.

2007
$

2006
$

Note 2: Surplus From Ordinary Activities
Net surplus has been determined after:
(a) Expenses
Operating lease rentals - office and shop premises

55,740

39,560

Depreciation of non-current assets:
Ź furniture, plant and equipment
Ź building improvements
Ź motor vehicles
Total depreciation

13,009
34,904
6,312
54,225

13,344
34,904
5,749
53,997

-

52,970
3,561
56,531

Write down of assets:
Ź inventories
Ź property, plant and equipment
Total write down of assets
Employee benefits expense:
Ź salaries, wages and workers compensation
Ź defined contribution superannuation plan
Ź movements in employee provisions
Total employee benefits

672,966
52,437
25,875
751,278

530,825
41,846
(19,964)
552,707
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ABN: 33 113 296 601
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007
2007
$
Note 2: Surplus From Ordinary Activities (continued)
Research grants expense:
Ź grants provided
Ź grants returned
Total research grants

2006
$

42,500
(11,876)
30,624

56,247
56,247

Note 3: Grants Revenue
Unexpended funds
at 1 July 2006
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Funding body:
ACT Dept of Health and Community Care:
Ź Cancer Information Service
Ź Smoking Cessation Program
Ź Youth Smoking Prevention Program
Ź Sun Smart Strategy Program
Ź Supportive Care Services
Healthpact:
Ź Smoking Cessation - Smokers experiencing
specific disadvantage
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Ź Developing Community Capacity to Promote
Active Lifestyles
The Snow Foundation Limited
Ź Wig Service

72,141
-

Grants received
during the year
(excluding GST)

Grants utilised
during the year

46,260
59,151
75,000
70,000
46,260

46,260
59,151
102,271
70,000
46,260

60,265

60,265

-

72,141

Note 5: Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand
Cash at bank
Deposits at call

44,870
-

-

2,945
359,881

2,945
387,152
2007
$

Note 4: Auditors’ Remuneration
Remuneration of the auditor for:
Ź Auditing or reviewing the financial report
Ź Other services

Unexpended funds
at 30 June 2007

-

44,870
2006
$

9,275
3,140
12,415

7,750
1,991
9,741

700
884,478
39,565
924,743

1,060
798,976
38,592
838,628

THE CANCER COUNCIL ACT LIMITED
ABN: 33 113 296 601
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007
2007
$
Note 6: Receivables
CURRENT
Trade debtors
Accrued revenue
Other debtors

2006
$

6,800
15,175
1,780
23,755

12,055
951
13,006

47,869
4,256
52,125

33,423
16,349
49,772

1,520

1,270

11,822
13,342

11,195
12,465

12,502

10,848

140,111
(112,616)
27,495

121,091
(99,607)
21,484

Motor vehicles – at cost
Accumulated depreciation

38,977
(13,365)
25,612

40,827
(20,954)
19,873

Building improvements - at cost
Accumulated depreciation

105,000
(89,579)
15,421

105,000
(54,675)
50,325

68,528

91,682

No impairment indicators were present in respect of receivables at 30 June 2007.
Note 7: Inventories
Shop merchandise
Wig merchandise
No impairment indicators were present in respect of inventories at 30 June 2007.
Note 8: Other Financial Assets
Available for sale financial assets
Shares in listed corporations - at fair value
Held to maturity financial instruments
Debentures - at cost

Note 9: Other Current Assets
Prepayments
Note 10: Property, Plant and Equipment
Furniture, plant and equipment – at cost
Accumulated depreciation

Total Property, Plant and Equipment
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007
Note 10: Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)
(a) Movement in the carrying amounts for each
class of property, plant and equipment between
the beginning and the end of the current and
prior financial year
Furniture, plant
and equipment

Balance at 1 July 2005
Additions
Depreciation expense
Write-offs
Balance at 1 July 2006
Additions
Depreciation expense
Disposals
Balance at 1 July 2007

$
28,452
7,148
(13,344)
(772)
21,484
19,020
(13,009)
27,495

Motor vehicles

$
25,622
(5,749)
19,873
19,213
(6,312)
(7,162)
25,612

Building
improvements

$
88,018
(34,904)
(2,789)
50,325
(34,904)
15,421
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2007
$

58

Note 11: Payables
CURRENT
Unsecured liabilities:
Employee benefits payable
Other creditors and accrued expenses
Amounts payable to related parties (Note 18)
Annual leave accrual
Long service leave accrual

Note 12: Unearned Revenue
CURRENT
Unexpended project grants
Other

Note 3

Total

$
142,092
7,148
(53,997)
(3,561)
91,682
38,233
(54,225)
(7,162)
68,528
2006
$

22,465
35,702
2,477
44,732
1,913
107,289

12,110
52,463
22,720
23,681
7,768
118,742

44,870
1,200
46,070

72,141
72,141

THE CANCER COUNCIL ACT LIMITED
ABN: 33 113 296 601
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007
2007
$
Note 13: Provisions
NON-CURRENT
Employee benefits:
Ź Long service leave (non-vested)
Note 14: Lease incentives
NON-CURRENT
Lease incentive liability

2006
$

12,113

1,433

8,333

20,000

Note 15: Company Details
(a) Members Guarantee
The Cancer Council ACT Limited is a company limited by guarantee. If the company is wound up, the Constitution
states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of $10 each towards meeting any outstanding
obligations of the Company. At 30 June 2007 the number of members was 49 (2006: 50).
(b) Locations
The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is:
The Cancer Council ACT Limited
5 Richmond Avenue
Fairbairn ACT 2609
(c) Activities
The Company operates in the Canberra and surrounding region providing
health management and education services.
Note 16: Commitments for Expenditure
(a) Research grants commitments
The Company has entered into a contract for the performance of a cancerrelated scientific research project.
Payable:
Ź not later than 1 year

(b) Operating lease commitments
Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not capitalised:
Payable:
Ź not later than 1 year
Ź later than 1 year but not later than 5 years

-

42,500
42,500

25,000
25,000

51,667
25,000
76,667
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2007
$

2006
$

Note 16: Commitments for Expenditure (continued)
In respect of non-cancellable operating leases the following
liabilities have been recognised:
Non-current:
Lease incentives (note 14)

8,333

20,000

General description of leasing arrangements:
Ź Lease for 5 Richmond Avenue, Fairbairn, ACT that expires 5 December 2007 with no options to renew. The
commitment disclosed above does not include amortisation of the lease incentives.
Note 17: Key Management Personnel
(a) Details of Key Management Personnel
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Names and positions held of key management personnel in office at any time during the financial year are:
(i) Directors of The Cancer Council ACT Limited :
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Dr Kevin White
Ms Christine Brill
Ms Mary Martin
Mr David Sly
Ms Sue Hart
Mr David Nolan
Dr Carolyn Cho
Ms Gillian Mitchell
Dr Doug Taupin
Mr Rohan Greenland
Mr Brian Loftus
(ii) Executive Officers
Joan Bartlett

President
Vice President
Honorary Secretary
Treasurer

Chief Executive Officer

THE CANCER COUNCIL ACT LIMITED
ABN: 33 113 296 601
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007
Note 17: Key Management Personnel (continued)
(b) Compensation of Key Management
Short-term
benefits
$

Post
employment
benefits
$

Other longterm benefits

Total

$

$

2007
Total compensation

83,542

-

-

83,542

2006
Total compensation

83,225

-

-

83,225

The directors did not receive any remuneration directly or indirectly from the company or any related body
corporate for management of the Company, other than reimbursements of expenses incurred on behalf of the
Company.
Note 18: Related Party Transactions
During 2007, all transactions during the year were on normal commercial terms and conditions unless otherwise
stated.
Ź The Company is a member of The Cancer Council Australia. This involves the Company and other
membership organisations in each state and territory contributing annual membership fees, purchasing
fundraising merchandise and receiving net fundraising income from the Cancer Council Australia.
2007
$
Note 19: Cash Flow Information
(a) Reconciliation of net cash relating to operating activities to operating surplus
Operating surplus
Non-cash flows in operating surplus:
Depreciation and amortisation
Write down and impairment of assets
Non-cash interest receipts
Gain on disposal of non-current assets
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Receivables
Inventories
Other current assets
Payables
Unearned revenue
Provisions
Lease incentives
Net cash relating to operating activities

116,889

2006
$

65,928

54,225
(661)
(1,928)

53,997
62,831
-

(10,749)
(2,353)
(1,654)
(11,453)
(26,071)
10,680
(11,667)
115,258

8,955
(2,003)
15,791
18,227
72,141
(19,964)
8,333
284,236
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007
Note 19: Cash Flow Information (continued)
(b) Non-cash transactions
During the year the Company received non-cash proceeds totalling $9,090 relating to a trade-in on a motor
vehicle.
(c) Unused credit facilities
The Company maintains a business card facility for the Chief Executive Officer. The credit card has a limit of
$4,000. At 30 June 2007, $1,442 was unused.
Note 20: Financial Instruments
(a) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial asset or liability will change due to interest rate fluctuations.
The interest rate applicable to each class of financial asset and liability are as follows:
Ź Variable rate cash deposits totalling $904,277 at the average rate of 5.47% (2006: 4.85%).
Ź Fixed rate deposits totalling $19,767 maturing within one year at the average rate of 6.05% (2006: 5.70%).
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(b) Credit risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount as
disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements. With the exception of cash deposits with the
Commonwealth Bank of Australia totalling $924,024, the Company does not have any material credit risk
exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors.
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(c) Net fair values
The net fair value of financial assets and liabilities approximates the values shown in the balance sheet and the
notes thereto.
Note 21: Subsequent Events
The financial report of the Company was authorised for issue on the date of signing of the attached Directors'
Declaration by the directors.
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THE CANCER COUNCIL ACT LIMITED
ABN: 33 113 296 601
DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007
(To be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Review Report)
2007
$

2006
$

REVENUE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Shop sales
Grants
Membership fees
Training and education fees
Donations
Bequests
Special events
Other products and services
NON-OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Interest
Royalties
Gain on disposal of non-current asset
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Total revenue
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163,768
387,152
1,183
18,312
134,363
5,109
847,300
1,839
1,559,026

109,409
229,709
1,255
8,020
141,747
250
722,968
40,689
1,254,047

45,822
11,858
1,928
59,608
1,618,634

26,728
31,614
58,342
1,312,389

EXPENSES
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
FBT Expense
Workers compensation insurance
Professional development
Wages & Salaries
Contract staff
Superannuation
Provision for annual leave
Provision for long service leave
Recruitment fees
Total Employee Benefits
SHOP MERCHANDISE
Shop merchandise
Total Shop Merchandise

1,389
14,486
12,530
584,810
55,880
52,437
21,050
4,825
3,871
751,278

1,584
17,066
6,253
460,379
43,805
41,846
(22,153)
2,189
1,738
552,707

82,329
82,329

87,260
87,260

THE CANCER COUNCIL ACT LIMITED
ABN: 33 113 296 601
DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 (continued)
(To be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Review Report)
2007
$
EVENTS COSTS
Fundraising purchases of services
Fundraising merchandise
National events
Total Events Costs

2006
$

68,937
42,236
4,484
115,657

38,487
38,335
8,760
85,582

RESEARCH GRANTS
Grants for cancer research
Total Research Grants

30,624
30,624

56,247
56,247

GENERAL COSTS
Advertising & promotion
Staff and Committee amenities
Audit & accounting
Bank charges
Cleaning, supplies & services
Consultancy fees
Depreciation
Freight & postage
Hire of equipment and premises
Web site redevelopment
IT support
Legal
Local travel
Major meetings
Memberships & subscriptions
Miscellaneous
Motor vehicle
Other insurance
Photocopier
Printing

30,828
1,685
12,415
6,478
7,204
21,055
54,225
35,872
3,008
13,364
6,608
5,974
16,278
9,240
873
9,084
21,702
1,045
44,263

27,796
1,622
9,741
5,141
4,944
17,206
53,997
28,850
1,527
7,201
1,188
6,048
9,456
6,022
774
6,499
29,771
1,824
26,063

2,147
19,734
29,009
2,108
354,199

3,767
11,360
23,693
2,106
286,596

Repairs & maintenance
Stationery
Telephone & fax
Security
Total General Costs
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 (continued)
(To be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Review Report)
2007
$
OCCUPANCY COSTS
Electricity
Rent
Gas
Total Occupancy Costs
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WRITE DOWN AND IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS
Write down and impairment of assets
Total write down and impairment of assets
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2006
$

5,871
44,073
652
50,596

5,435
39,560
44,995

-

56,531
56,531

PROJECT COSTS
Cancer information & support services
Health promotion giveaways
Library supplies, tapes & printed support
Nicotine Replacement Therapy
Other products & services
Evaluations
Total Project Costs

7,817
15,953
25,868
5,000
54,638

2,497
(721)
94
30,035
17,011
48,916

TCCA MEMBERSHIP FEES
The Cancer Council Australia membership
Total TCCA Membership Fees

62,424
62,424

27,627
27,627

1,501,745

1,246,461

116,889

65,928

Total expenses
Net surplus / (deficit) for the financial year

How You Can Support The Cancer Council ACT
You can make a real contribution to reducing the incidence and impact of cancer
in the ACT by supporting The Cancer Council ACT.
You can support The Cancer Council ACT by:
• Making a regular donation
• Taking part in one of our fundraising events
• Making a bequest in your will
• Enlisting as a volunteer
• Becoming a member
For further information or to make a donation visit www.actcancer.org
or please call The Cancer Council ACT on (02) 6257 9999.

I would like to support The Cancer Council ACT by making the following donation:
Amount (please enter) $......................................................................................................
Please make Cheque/Money Order payable to THE CANCER COUNCIL ACT or charge my:

Q Bankcard

Card No:

Q Mastercard

Q Visa

Q AMEX

Q Diner

QQQQ QQQQ QQQQ QQQQ

Expiry Date:.................. / ..................... / ....................

Signature ...............................................................................................................

Name:....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................
Address: ...............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................
Thank you for your kind donation. Your tax deductible receipt will be sent to you.
Please forward your donation to:
The Cancer Council ACT
PO Box 143
Fyshwick ACT 2609

The Cancer Council ACT
5 Richmond Avenue
Fairbairn ACT 2609

Phone: (02) 6257 9999
Fax: (02) 6257 5055
www.actcancer.org

67

SIMPLE STEPS TO PREVENTING CANCER

Avoid tobacco smoke

Be physically active

• Quit smoking

• Aim to have at least 30 minutes of moderate physical
activity daily, for general good health and 60 minutes a
day, including some vigorous intensity exercise, to reduce
cancer risk

• If a non-smoker, try to avoid other people’s smoke

Protect your skin from the sun
• Sun protection should be used when the UV Index is
3 or above
• Minimise direct exposure to the sun between 10am
and 2pm (11am and 3pm during daylight saving)
• Slip on a long sleeved collared shirt, and protect your
skin with clothes when outside
• Slop on broad spectrum SPF 30+ sunscreen 20
minutes before going outside and reapply every two
hours
• Slap on a hat with a wide brim to cover your neck,
face and ears

• If currently inactive, then any increase in activity is beneﬁcial

Early Detection
Finding cancer early offers one of the best chances to cure the
disease. Be aware of what is normal for your body and visit your
doctor if you notice any changes or have any concerns. Look for:
• Any unexplained change in bowel or bladder habit
• Unusual bleeding or discharge
• A lump in the breast, armpit, neck or elsewhere in the body
• Persistent indigestion or difﬁculty in swallowing
• Unexplained weight loss

• Wrap on sunglasses to protect your eyes. They should
be close ﬁtting, wrap-around and conform to the
Standards Association of Australia standard (AS 1067)

• A nagging cough or hoarseness

• Use shade to protect yourself from the sun
when outside

• Become familiar with the normal look and feel of your
breasts, and talk to your doctor if you notice any new change

• For the majority of people, sun protection is not
necessary in the ACT during June and July

• Men and women 50 years and over should test for bowel
cancer with a faecal occult blood test (FOBT) every two years

Maintain a healthy body weight by

Women

Eating a healthy diet

• All women 18-70 should have a Pap test every two years to
check for cancer of the cervix

• Lots of fruit and vegetables, ﬁve or more servings of
vegetables and two or more servings of fruit per day

• Women over 50 should have a screening mammogram every
two years to check for breast cancer

• Plenty of breads and cereals preferably wholegrain

Men

• Drink alcohol in moderation, if at all

• Check your body for any new skin spots, or a spot that has
changed in size, colour or shape or a sore that does not heal

• Limit the amount of processed meat and avoid
charred meat

• Men should check for any changes (a lump or anything
unusual) in your testicles and talk to your doctor if you
notice any changes

• Eat foods low in fat and salt

• Talk to your doctor about any persistent urinary problems

Street address: 5 Richmond Avenue FAIRBAIRN ACT 2609
Postal address: PO Box 143 FYSHWICK ACT 2609
Phone: (02) 6257 9999 Fax: (02) 6257 5055
Email: reception@actcancer.org Website: www.actcancer.org

